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1 General information

1.1. Submission of the annual report to the executive authority 
In accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance Management Act, Act 1 of 1999, 
we have pleasure in submitting for presentation to Parliament this report of the activities 
of Iziko Museums of Cape Town for the financial year ended on 31 March 2005.

1.2.  Applicable Acts and other information 
This report is submitted in compliance with the Constitution of the Republic of South Af-
rica (Act 108 of 1996); the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999 as amended by 
Act 29 of 1999); Treasury Regulations, 2001; and other applicable Acts and Regulations.

Foundation
In terms of the Cultural Institutions Act, Act 119 of 1998 the State-funded museums in the 
Western Cape - the South African Cultural History Museum, South African Museum, South 
African National Gallery, the William Fehr Collection and the Michaelis Collection - were 
amalgamated as the Southern Flagship Institution (SFI). In July 2001 the SFI was officially 
renamed Iziko Museums of Cape Town (Iziko). Iziko, which means a hearth in Xhosa, sym-
bolically positions our museums as centres of cultural activity.

Iziko operates the following museums, each with its own history and character:

 South African Museum

 SA National Gallery

 SA Maritime Museum
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 Slave Lodge Museum

 William Fehr Collection (at the Castle of Good Hope)

 Michaelis Collection (The Old Town House)

 Rust en Vreugd Museum

 Bertram House Museum

 Koopmans-DeWet House Museum

 Natale Labia Museum

 Groot Constantia Museum

 West Coast Fossil Park

 Planetarium

 Bo-Kaap Museum

 SAS Somerset (a museum ship at the V & A Waterfront)

Vision
Iziko Museums of Cape Town are African museums of excellence that empower and inspire 
all people to celebrate and respect our diverse heritage.

Mission 
To manage and promote Iziko’s unique combination of South Africa’s heritage collections, 
sites and services for the benefit of present and future generations.

1.3. Introduction by Prof H. C. Bredekamp, CEO of Iziko
The financial year 2004-2005 saw the first fruits of the revised strategic plan, focusing on 
key areas of performance and consolidating the achievements of the previous year. Iziko 
hosted a total of 474 995 visitors in the period under review, an increase of 13.3% (55 761 
people) over visitor numbers last year.

Iziko joined the nation in celebrating the decade of democracy with several special exhibi-
tions. Our Art Collections Division showcased art made and acquired in the decade after 
1994 with an exhibition entitled ‘A Decade of Democracy: South African Art 1994 –2004’. 
This was followed by two concurrent exhibitions that celebrated South African and African 
art, ‘Ilifa laBantu’ and ‘Voice-overs’, opened by the Minister of Art and Culture, Dr Z. Pallo 
Jordan in November 2004. 

The major exhibition ‘Democracy X - Marking the 
present; Re-presenting the past’, produced by the 
Social History Collections Division, opened in April 
2004 at the Castle of Good Hope and was seen by 
over 60 000 visitors. The exhibition, which traced 
the long history of South Africa from the earli-
est signs of humanity to the present, received the 
Western Cape Arts, Culture and Heritage Award for 
the best urban museum project in 2004 and was 
listed by the Royal Academy in London as one of 

Prof Henry  
Bredekamp

The opening of the ‘Voice Overs’ exhibition in November 2004.
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the top fifteen exhibitions in the world. In 
December 2004 President Mbeki and Mrs 
Mbeki visited the exhibition and we were 
honoured by their appreciative comments. 

Another exhibition highlight was the open-
ing of ‘Sharkworld’, a project of our Natural 
History Collections Division. Dr Leonard 
Compagno, Iziko’s shark expert and senior 
author of a prestigious new HarperCollins 
publication, A Field Guide to the Sharks of 
the World, ensured the scientific accuracy 
of the exhibition, which has become one of 
the most popular permanent installations at 
Iziko SA Museum.

Our education and public programmes continued to increase visitor numbers through 
public events and programmes for school groups. We regard it as particularly important 
to provide museum experiences for young people that give them opportunities to interact 
with, and learn to value, our diverse national heritage. The future of museums lies as much 
in their hands, as in the efforts and commitment of our dedicated staff.

We are pleased to acknowledge the continuing upward trend in corporate giving and 
government support that Iziko has enjoyed in recent years. The major commitment of funds 
this year by the Department of Public Works to refurbish the National Mutual Building on 
Church Square is noted with appreciation. The Sharkworld exhibition was generously fund-
ed by the Save our Seas Foundation and most of our other exhibitions attracted generous 
sponsorship from the corporate sector. Other projects, such as our Public Art Commission, 
were funded by the National Lotteries Board 
and other agencies. Iziko’s transformation 
projects gained valued funding support from 
the Department of Arts and Culture and the 
Department of Public Works, among other 
State entities. Three ‘Friends’ organizations, 
associated with particular Iziko museums, 
once again contributed significantly to our 
successes through fundraising, organising 
events and volunteering assistance. 

Another valuable contributor to our bot-
tom line was venue hire, an area with much 
growth potential. The 359 special events and 
functions hosted at our various sites were 
attended by 30 631 people, and realised an 
income of R631 505, an increase of R42 041 
(7.2%) on the previous year. Without the sup-
port of individuals, the public, corporations 
and the State we would not have been able 
to achieve many of our goals.

Learners of Bergsig  
Primary stand in awe 
of the megatooth shark 
jaws on display at 
Sharkworld in Iziko SA 
Museum.

President Thabo Mbeki 
meets the children at the 
Democracy X exhibition at 
the Castle of Good Hope.
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Behind the scenes, as always, our researchers, curators, technicians and customer-service 
staff continue to deliver good results, often in challenging circumstances. Performance 
in relation to our strategic objectives is outlined later in this report. In spite of operating 
constraints ranging from inadequate staffing levels to limited finances, we are confident 
that we have made progress in laying the foundations for achieving our vision of becoming 
African museums of excellence.

1.4. Performance information 
The report below summarises the progress made in the reported year towards achieving the 
six strategic objectives described in the Iziko Strategic Plan 2005 – 2008. Each section is 
headed by the relevant strategic objective followed by a short description of the key issues 
addressed in this year, and includes a summary in table format of the main actions under-
taken.

Various programmes 
for children are held by 
Education and Public 
Programmes.
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Programme /  
Activity /  
Key objective

Strategy Outputs
Service delivery  
indicator

Actual Performance 
against target

Manage the trans-
formation proc-
ess according to 
national guidelines 
as laid out in the 
relevant legislation.

Address the current 
under-funding of Iziko by 
Government.

Exposition of the pro-
gressive funding deficit 
for Iziko since 1999.

Increased funding from 
Government.

DAC Transformation 
funding (R7 383 697) 
was received in 2004. 

Develop and implement 
an employment equity 
plan.

Consult with EE Consult-
ative Forum, manage-
ment and Council.

Meet the objectives and 
actions of the EE Plan 
schedule. 

New Senior Manager 
appointed in May 2004. 
Composition of the EE 
Consultative Forum 
finalised in September. 

The EECF will revise the 
EE plan in the second 
quarter of 2005.

Ensure that Iziko 
sites fit into the 
vision and that they 
are sustainable 
entities.

Develop sustainable 
ways of operating sites 
or transferring them out 
of Iziko if appropriate. 

Recommendation by 
Council to close the 
Natale Labia Museum.

Recommendation ap-
proved by the Minister 
of Arts and Culture.

Ensure good  
governance.

Compliance with the 
PFMA Act.

Activities of Audit 
Committee reflected in 
reports. 

Implement the Internal 
Audit function.

Quarterly compliance 
reporting

Favourable assess-
ments in Audit Com-
mittee report, Auditor 
General Report and 
Internal Audit Report.

Appointment of the 
Internal Auditor.

Quarterly reports

Audit Committee ap-
pointed in March 2004.

Recommendations 
in the audit report, 
where possible were 
implemented during 
2004/2005 financial 
year.

Iziko will appoint an 
Internal Auditor in June 
2005.

Quarterly reports were 
submitted as required 
by Department of Arts 
and Culture.

1.4.1. Strategic objective 1:  
  Drive the transformation process according to national guidelines. 
The key transformation issues addressed this year included improving funding for transfor-
mation, addressing employment equity issues, and improving and refurbishing Iziko’s sites. 
Some progress was also made towards the aim of extending Iziko’s partnerships with other 
entities. 
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Develop a building 
programme with 
the Department of 
Public Works that 
improves the capac-
ity of our individual 
sites to provide for 
our core functions.

All sites on a six year 
repair and renovation 
cycle programme.

Additional storage 
areas to be created in 
SA Museum.

Renovation and  
extension of National 
Mutual Building to 
house Social History 
Collections.

All Iziko buildings  
renovated and  
refurbished by 2006.

Collections moved into 
new basement storage 
area in SA Museum.

Newly refurbished 
and extended building 
handed over to Iziko.

Establish renovation 
and refurbishment  
programme with DPW. 

Basement stores 
handed over to Iziko by 
March 2005.

Approval for work 
received in 2004.

Contractor on site in 
August 2005.

William Fehr Collection 
(Castle) completed. Site 
handed over to contrac-
tor for upgrade of Fire 
Protection system.

Contract extended; 
new funding available 
for shelving, storage, 
handling equipment.

Roll-out plan for packing 
and moving Social  
History collections  
developed, January 
2005

Contractor on site early 
2006.

Programme /  
Activity /  
Key objective

Strategy Outputs
Service delivery  
indicator

Actual Performance 
against target
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1.4.2.  Strategic objective 2: Achieve service excellence through management and development of human resources
Among the human resource objectives addressed this year were the review of the organisational  
structure; implementing effective management systems, including performance management;  
and developing staff.

Programme /  
Activity /  
Key objective

Strategy Outputs
Service delivery  
indicator

Actual Performance 
against target

Develop, imple-
ment and regularly 
review the organi-
sational structure 
to ensure that the 
structure facilitates 
the delivery of a 
professional, trans-
formed and flexible 
customer-focused 
museum service.

Implement a flex-
ible and cost-effective 
structure.

Review the structure 
annually during the 
budgeting process.

Review vacant posts to 
assess creative ways of 
employing resources.

Review the organisa-
tional structure in terms 
of an agreed process.

Effective Structure 
implemented with  
feedback from all stake-
holders.

Council approved the 
introduction of the 
positions of Executive 
Director: Core Functions 
and Executive Director: 
Operations to constitute 
an executive team with 
the CEO that will lead the 
review of the structure.

The executive direc-
tors will be appointed 
in 2005-2006 and will 
make recommendations 
to Council regarding the 
refinement of the organi-
sational structure.

Each position that 
became vacant through 
natural attrition was 
reviewed. Key positions 
were filled with contract 
staff.

Develop effective 
human resources 
management 
systems, processes 
and policies.

Review all systems and 
processes in order to 
provide an effective 
Employee Assistance 
Programme.

Annual review in place.  
Feedback from manage-
ment, staff and Council.

A new HR Information 
System and an upgraded 
payroll system will be 
implemented in May 
2005.

Develop, implement 
and monitor a  
Performance  
Management Policy 
and Appraisal  
System.

Develop a culture-fair 
Performance  
Management Policy 
and Appraisal System.

A Performance  
Management Policy im-
plemented in April 2005.

Annual review of the  
appraisal system.  

Leadership Development 
Programme for  
managers. 

Performance Manage-
ment policy in place and 
implemented.

Council approved the 
Performance Manage-
ment Policy. Staff were 
trained to prepare them 
for the performance  
appraisal process.

Three managers com-
pleted the Senior Man-
agement Programme 
and one completed the 
Executive Development 
Programme at the Uni-
versity of Stellenbosch 
Business School (USB).
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Develop and 
implement an 
effective Learning 
and Development 
Programme.

A Learning and  
Development  
Programme based on  
a Skills Audit, labour  
legislation, Iziko 
policies, and the Iziko 
Employment Equity 
Plan.

A Skills Audit conducted 
with each employee and 
management in his/her 
division.

The training needs of 
employees must be 
established annually.

A Learning and  
Development Plan  
including formal training 
as well as in-house  
development  
programmes.

Effective Learning and 
Development Pro-
gramme implemented.  
Feedback from all 
stakeholders.

Increase in competency 
of staff measured during 
performance appraisal.

One percent of the pay-
roll was spent on Learn-
ing and Development. 
The programme was 
based on the completed 
annual skills audit.

The first measurement 
of performance will be 
in September 2005, 
six months after the 
implementation of the 
performance appraisal 
system.

Learning and Develop-
ment Programmes for 
2005-6 as well as 2006-7 
have been developed.

Develop, implement 
and regularly review 
a Communication 
Plan for Iziko.

Develop a Communica-
tion Plan that 
 empowers employees 
and assists in the  
management process.

Consultation with man-
agement and employees 
in order to establish their 
requirements.

Feedback from manage-
ment, staff and Council.

A Staff Representative 
Forum was elected to 
present staff issues to 
Council meetings.

Programme /  
Activity /  
Key objective

Strategy Outputs
Service delivery  
indicator

Actual Performance 
against target
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1.4.3.  Strategic objective 3:  Build, care for and interpret the collections of Iziko

There are about 1.3 million objects accessioned into Iziko collections. These unique collec-
tions form a vital part of the tangible heritage of the nation. Iziko is mandated to build, 
care for and interpret these collections. 

Programme /  
Activity /  
Key objective

Strategy Outputs
Service delivery  
indicator

Actual Performance 
against target

Manage collections 
to the highest inter-
national standards.

Develop and implement 
a Collections Policy.

Provide adequate space 
and controlled condi-
tions for the storage 
of all collections [see 
1.4.1].

Develop and extend 
computerised collec-
tions databases and 
make them available on 
the internet.

Collections Policy for all 
divisions approved and 
implemented. 

Audit of collections and 
needs-analysis of stor-
age undertaken.

Funds raised for new 
storage systems for col-
lections relocated to the 
new basement storage 
area.

Database for Social His-
tory collections  
developed.

Digitisation and  
databasing of art  
accessions.

Databasing of natural 
history accessions.

Approved by Council 
before mid-2005. 

Completed by end of 
2005.

Funds obtained by 
March 2006.

Increased records in 
databases.

Completed by 2008.

Minimum of 15 000 ac-
cession records 
annually.

Council approved Art 
and Social History 
Collections policies in 
2004. Natural History 
Collections policy will be 
approved by mid-2005. 

Human Remains Policy 
was drafted in March 
2005.

Audit of the Social His-
tory Collections ongoing 
as part of relocating 
the stored collections 
at the National Mutual 
Building. Storage of 
pre-colonial  
archaeology collections 
at SA Museum  
upgraded in phases. 

Obtained R800 000 for 
storage systems from 
the Basement Storage 
Project.

12 000 new Social  
History database 
entries. 

Progressing. Art  
division database con-
tains records of  
over 8 800 works.

48 994 accession 
records entered for 
2004-5. Databases now 
total 302 752 records.
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Build national  
collections of which 
all South Africans 
can be proud.

Develop an Acquisitions 
Policy to be integrated 
with the Collections 
Policy.

Develop funded projects 
that address needs and 
gaps in collections.
 
Correct and redress im-
balances created by the 
colonial and apartheid 
past.

Maintain and develop 
relationships with  
potential donors and 
benefactors.

Acquisitions Policy ap-
proved and  
implemented.

Funded projects in place 
to address gaps in  
collections.

Acquisition and exhibi-
tion policies address the 
historical imbalances in 
the Art collections.

Programme to address 
historical imbalances in 
SH collections in place.

Liaison and cooperation 
with Friends of muse-
ums associations.

Greater efficiency,  
accountability and  
transparency in  
acquisitions. 

Successful applications.

Art and Social His-
tory collections reflect 
significant trends in 
contemporary cultural 
development, as well as 
the visual arts, in SA.

Collections enhanced 
with presentations.

Collections enhanced 
through donations from 
the Friends.

Acquisitions Policies 
developed for Art, So-
cial History and Natural 
History Collections in 
2004. The Art Acquisi-
tions Committee now 
includes experts from 
outside Iziko.

See Appendix 4.2 and 
Appendix 4.5.

See Appendix 4.2 and 
Appendix 4.5.

See Appendix 4.2

See Appendix 4.2

See Appendix 4.2

Generate new 
knowledge about 
our collections and 
the heritage they 
represent. 

Maintain a dedicated 
and productive body of 
curators/ researchers 
whose research is pri-
marily collection-based.

Build research capacity 
in line with strategic 
priorities.

Produce publications, 
exhibitions, and edu-
cational resources as 
outcomes of research.

All NH scientists achieve 
successful NRF rating.

Active research on  
collections undertaken.

Trainee positions for 
young researchers 
created.

Publications, exhibi-
tions and educational 
resources. 

All NH scientists rated 
successfully by end of 
2007.

Increased knowledge 
and research output.

Increase in such  
positions.

Increasing number of 
publications on Iziko 
collections.

Five of the seven Natu-
ral History scientists are 
successfully rated and 
one has recently applied 
for rating.

Archaeological excava-
tions at numerous sites 
in the Western and 
southern Cape, includ-
ing the search and 
excavation of the slave 
ship, Meermin.

Trainee black scientist 
on contract in  
Entomology.

See Appendix 4.1 and 
Appendix 4.5

Programme /  
Activity /  
Key objective

Strategy Outputs
Service delivery  
indicator

Actual Performance 
against target
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Scientific publications in 
refereed journals.

Production of new 
Natural History research 
journal.

At least fifteen per year.

Volume one published 
by June 2005.

Fourteen scientific 
journal publications on 
natural history and one 
book.

Journal will be called 
African Natural History. 
Design of journal has 
been completed.

Promote study of our 
collections by external 
researchers.

Maintain an active loan 
system to promote the 
use and knowledge of 
the collections. 

External researchers 
accommodated by the 
collections divisions.

Loan policy and  
agreements in place. 

Increase in number of 
visitors to our collec-
tions.

Increase in number of 
loans and number of 
objects on loan. 

23 specialist research 
visitors to Pre-colonial 
archaeology; over 50 
general social history 
research visitors.

See Appendix 4.4. 

Address existing 
staffing deficits.

Employ and train more 
curators, conservators, 
restorers, collection 
managers, technicians 
and security staff.

Increased number of 
trained collections staff.

Improved EE profile of 
collections staff. 

Equitable distribution of 
staff across collections.

EE profile meets  
objectives.

Current trainees are on 
contract. Permanent 
positions need to be 
established.  

Not meeting objectives 
– opportunities for 
meeting objectives are 
limited.

Programme /  
Activity /  
Key objective

Strategy Outputs
Service delivery  
indicator

Actual Performance 
against target
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1.4.4. Strategic objectives 4: Improve and broaden accessibility to Iziko sites and collections. 
Our challenge is to make all people welcome to our museums and to provide experiences 
that they can connect with and enjoy.

Programme /  
Activity /  
Key objective

Strategy Outputs Service delivery  
indicator

Actual Performance 
against target

Increase Iziko’s 
public profile and 
create a positive 
perception of Iziko 
across all sectors of 
the community.

Establish and imple-
ment marketing plan.

Survey and analyse 
audiences and potential 
audiences. 

Marketing plan  
implemented.

Audience surveys 
implemented and 
analysed.

Complete interim Mar-
keting plan by end April 
2005 and final plan by 
January 2006.

Increase in extent of 
media coverage.

Improved demographic 
profile and increased 
visitor numbers.

Improved satisfaction 
scores.

Marketing Strategies 
were drafted for the 
individual museums that 
will feed into the interim 
Marketing plan.

Coverage of Iziko events 
in the printed, broadcast 
and electronic media 
was generous, with 
regular listings in most 
major newspapers.  

A total of 474 994 
visitors visited Iziko’s 
museums and sites, an 
increase of 55 761  
visitors on the 
2003/2004 figure. 

A hundred surveys per 
museum were complet-
ed during the Dec- Jan 
2005 period.

Increase visitor 
satisfaction.

Develop a programme 
of exhibitions that is 
stimulating and enjoy-
able.

Ensure clean and safe 
precincts, including 
parking areas and 
grounds.

Stimulating programme 
of exhibitions imple-
mented. 

Security and cleaning 
plan for grounds in 
place.

Cost-effective agree-
ments with DPW, 
neighbouring organisa-
tions, City structures in 
place.

Reported on annually.

Improved security and 
appearance of grounds.

See Appendix 4.5

Grounds under mainte-
nance programme.

Tenders for single 
security service provider 
issued. Appointment of 
new service provider 
scheduled early in next 
financial year.
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Increase  
accessibility to Iziko  
collections.

Showcase Iziko  
collections nationally 
and internationally.

Produce virtual  
collections and  
exhibitions on the 
internet.

Develop behind-the-
scenes tours. 

Establish an image 
bank.

Extensive programme 
of temporary  
exhibitions.

International  
exchanges and  
partnerships.

Wide selection of Iziko 
virtual collections and 
exhibitions on the 
internet.

Biodiversity databasing 
and imaging initiatives 
integrated with those of 
the Global Biodiversity 
Information Facility 
(GBIF).

Biodiversity Explorer 
website developed 
further.

Behind-the-scenes 
tours of collections and 
activities in place. 

Digitisation of photo-
graphs and slides. 

Increased visibility of 
Iziko collections.

Increase in exposure 
of Iziko collections and 
positive user response.

At least one GBIF-sup-
ported project per year.

Programme in place by 
end of 2005.

15 000 new images 
scanned per year.

See Appendix 4.4 and 
Appendix 4.5. 

Iziko collections show-
cased at Expo 2005 in 
Japan and the  
Australian National 
Museum. 

New ‘Decade of Democ-
racy’, Bailey Collection, 
Meermin and ‘Democ-
racy X’ websites. 

GBIF/SABIF funding 
procured for project on 
Ichneumonid wasps.

Biodiversity Explorer 
recently moved to faster 
server and given new 
web address (www.bio-
diversityexplorer.org).

Programme in place 
in Social History and 
Natural History  
Collection areas.

Over 1 000 slides 
scanned in Natural 
History.

Programme /  
Activity /  
Key objective

Strategy Outputs Service delivery  
indicator

Actual Performance 
against target
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Foster community 
ownership of Iziko.

Support the activities 
and increase the profile 
of Friends organisations.  

Develop new alliances 
with stakeholders in 
communities.

Participation of profes-
sionals and experts 
from previously disad-
vantaged communities 
in Iziko committees.

Friends programmes 
supported.

Stakeholder alliances 
strengthened.

Professionals from 
previously disadvan-
taged communities 
incorporated in Iziko 
committees. 

Increased membership 
of Friends and interest in 
activities.

Increased participation 
of previously marginal-
ised communities.

Expertise gained.
Decision-making 
processes broadened 
through more diverse 
perspectives.

The three Friends 
organisations continue 
to provide excellent sup-
port with acquisitions 
and programmes (see 
Appendix 4.2). 

Collaboration with 
Nama community 
at Ratelgat and with 
other groups of Khoesan 
people.

Experts from outside 
Iziko participate in Art 
acquisitions meetings.

Cater for people 
with special needs.

Improve physical  
access (ramps, etc. 
– see 1.4.5)

Increase enjoyment of 
exhibitions (e.g. audio-
tours, interactive touch 
exhibits).

Improved physical 
access for disabled 
people at all sites.

Audio tours initiated. 

Braille labels and touch 
exhibits introduced. 

Special needs pro-
grammes in place for 
all major exhibitions.

Funding motivated for 
and approved by DPW 
via DAC.

Increased number of 
audio tours.

Increased number of 
Braille labels and touch 
exhibits.

Enriching experience for 
both visitors and staff.

Tenders for disabled 
access awaited from 
Department of Public 
Works.

Slave Lodge audio 
guides completed, 
December 2004.

Braille labels on select-
ed works in ‘Decade of 
Democracy’ exhibition 
and elsewhere at the SA 
National Gallery.

Extensive special needs 
programme around 
‘Decade of Democracy’ 
exhibition.

Programme /  
Activity /  
Key objective

Strategy Outputs Service delivery  
indicator

Actual Performance 
against target
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1.4.5. Strategic objectives 5: Unlock the educational potential of Iziko and promote and  
 innovatively showcase our arts, culture and natural history
Museums are in the business of educating people about their heritage, through producing 
exhibitions, education programmes and publications that utilise objects and knowledge 
from our vast collections.

Programme /  
Activity /  
Key objective

Strategy Outputs Service delivery  
indicator

Actual Performance 
against target

Increase use of 
Iziko educational 
resources.

Conduct surveys on 
what potential users, 
e.g. teachers, scholars 
and others expect.

Offer teacher training in 
the use of Iziko facilities.

Maximise the education-
al value of exhibitions 
and collections.

Regular surveys con-
ducted on expectations 
of potential users of Iziko 
education resources. 

Training programmes for 
teachers introduced. 

A structured WCED 
– Iziko partnership 
through further joint 
planning of workshops 
and training  
programmes. 

Collection-related, user-
friendly, educational 
resources developed.

Input from educator  
reference groups 
received.

Analysis of user experi-
ences guides service 
improvement. Number of 
users of Iziko  
educational resources.

More educator and 
school group visits, and 
offsite programmes. 

Effective utilisation of 
WCED – Iziko resources 
in programmes.

Learning and  
Teaching Support  
Material (LTSM)  
developed. 
Resources in demand by 
educators.

Regular consultation 
with stakeholders.

The educators who 
use our resources and 
visit our sites complete 
evaluation forms.

Regular site-orientation 
visits for curriculum 
planners.

Skills development 
workshops for art 
educators were held in 
the last quarter. 

A full-time art teacher 
was seconded from 
WCED to Iziko from 
December.

WCED Provincial  
Educator workshops 
regularly hosted.

Education booklet for 
‘The DaimlerChrysler 
Art Collection in South 
Africa 2004’ exhibition.
‘Democracy X’ Educa-
tion workbook pub-
lished, April 2004. Exhi-
bition was documented 
on DVD and CD for 
educational purposes, 
March 2005.

Educator reference 
groups are in place.
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Produce a dynamic 
programme of 
temporary and 
long-term exhibi-
tions with national 
and international 
partners.

Diversify exhibitions 
to cater for different 
audiences and assess 
potential to reach target 
audiences.

Produce displays linked 
to cultural, social, news 
and sports events, both 
nationally and interna-
tionally.

Provide educational 
access for disabled 
visitors, including Braille 
labels, audio-guides 
and interactive touch 
exhibits.

Diverse exhibition  
programme in place, 
and potential to reach 
target audiences as-
sessed.

A network of national 
and international part-
ners in the museum 
and corporate sectors 
maintained. 

Exhibitions and public 
programmes that com-
memorate key events 
or social issues, e.g. 
International Aids Day.

Educational access 
for disabled visitors 
improved.

Innovative strategies for 
making the exhibitions 
and sites more accessi-
ble for all audiences.

Increased educational 
use of exhibitions; in-
creased public profile 
and visibility of Iziko 
brand.
Annual evaluation of 
exhibition programme 
to assess relevance and 
strategic value. 

Must-see exhibitions at 
little or no cost to Iziko. 

Increased awareness of 
Iziko as a caring institu-
tions of civil society.

Special needs visitors 
are catered for with 
available resources 
and special exhibits are 
identified for listening/
touching.

Exhibitions subjects 
included African art, 
artists who trace their 
heritage to the South 
Asian region, photo-
graphs highlighting the 
degradation of Johan-
nesburg inner-city, the 
first decade of democ-
racy, human rights, 
San rock art, Khoesan 
history, slavery, sharks, 
cetaceans and fossils.

Over 60 000 people saw 
‘Democracy X’. 

Nine different Planetar-
ium shows ran through 
the year.

Exhibition partner-
ships with the Sir Abe 
Bailey Trust, The British 
Council, DaimlerChrys-
ler, Freedom Park,  
Desmond Tutu Peace 
Foundation, SA Centre 
for Photography, among 
others.  See Appendix 
4.5.

SA National Gallery was 
‘wrapped’ in a red  
ribbon by Aids NGO 
Wola Nani on Interna-
tional Aids Day.

Special needs pro-
grammes organised 
with the focus on the 
exhibition ‘A Decade of 
Democracy’; Braille  
labels on selected 
works in the exhibition.

Programme /  
Activity /  
Key objective

Strategy Outputs Service delivery  
indicator

Actual Performance 
against target
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Produce qual-
ity Iziko-branded 
research, exhibition-
related, and popular 
publications. 

Include a publications 
component in funding 
proposals for major 
exhibitions.

Form alliances with 
publishers and other 
stakeholders.

Publications included 
in exhibition funding 
proposals.

Publication partnerships 
established.

Increased Iziko publica-
tion profile. 

Excellent publications 
that generate income 
and that support the art 
library exchange pro-
gramme of catalogues 
and books.

See Appendix 4.1 for 
full list of research 
publications.

Art Division publications 
are exchanged with 100 
national and internation-
al exchange partners, 
resulting in publications 
from abroad entering 
the Library without cost 
to Iziko.
Unisa Press and Iziko 
partnership for ‘De-
mocracy X’ catalogue/
reader.

Develop accessible 
and useful educa-
tional websites.

Develop curriculum-
linked educational web 
content. 

Accessible education 
content for the Iziko 
website developed.

Increase in number of 
hits to the sites.

A part-time website 
administrator was ap-
pointed in August 2004.

Develop a relevant 
educator develop-
ment programme.

Formalise agreements 
with WCED and DoE in 
terms of joint ventures.

Iziko educators attend 
in-service WCED-facili-
tated training work-
shops. 

Unrestricted access for 
Iziko educators to the 
training available to 
WCED educators.

Our educators have full 
access to WCED educa-
tor INSET training and 
have attended a number 
of training workshops.

Promote education 
beyond Iziko sites.

Develop a dynamic 
and sustainable off-site 
education programme.

Increase participation in 
annual school-focused 
marketing events.

Off-site education pro-
grammes developed.

Iziko brand promoted at 
school-focused market-
ing events.

Partnership activities 
such as the annual 
matric art exhibition.

Increase in schools 
visited per year.

Feedback from educa-
tion sector, the public 
and volunteers.

Successful joint activi-
ties with partners.

The Iziko Mobile Mu-
seum will operate from 
April 2005.

Iziko participated in all 
the annual outreach 
programmes in the 
Western Cape.

The WCED Matric art 
exhibition was hosted at 
SA Museum.

Programme /  
Activity /  
Key objective

Strategy Outputs Service delivery  
indicator

Actual Performance 
against target
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Provide a sustain-
able and dynamic 
volunteer  
programme

Recruit and train  
volunteers.

Access funding for 
learning support and 
skills development from 
government and private 
donors.

Volunteers recruited 
and sustained training 
programme.

Fundraising initiated. 
Funding received for 
skills-development 
programmes

Increased number of 
volunteers.

Increased learning  
support and skills  
development pro-
grammes offered.

Volunteers are active 
in the Art and Social 
History Collections Divi-
sions, and in education.

Preliminary discussions 
with stakeholders have 
been held to secure 
their participation in 
Iziko’s  Heritage Learn-
ing Support Programme 
(HSLP), which is 
partially funded by 
the National Lotteries 
Board.

Programme /  
Activity /  
Key objective

Strategy Outputs Service delivery  
indicator

Actual Performance 
against target
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Programme /  
Activity / 
Key objective

Strategy Outputs Service delivery  
indicator

Actual Performance 
against target

Develop and imple-
ment a medium to 
long-term fundrais-
ing strategy

Solicit sponsorships 
from donors.

A developed fundraising 
strategy.

Increased funds, spon-
sorship of projects and 
donations.

See Appendix 4.3 

Short-term investments 
are reviewed regularly 
to ensure maximum 
return.

Maximise revenue Review costing of all 
products annually, in re-
lation to market prices. 

Market Iziko products 
more effectively (e.g. 
venues, exhibitions, 
publications, public 
programmes).

Develop new sources of 
income.

Trading activities such 
as merchandising and 
venue hire.

Utilise intellectual 
capital, specialist skills, 
knowledge and experi-
ence of employees.

Increase in income from 
operations and products
Increase in revenue.

Income from museum 
services.

Annual review and 
increase of entrance 
fees.

In total 359 special 
events and functions 
were attended by 30 
631 people at the vari-
ous Iziko sites, generat-
ing R631 505 through 
venue hire, an increase 
of R42 041 on the 
2003/2004 figures. 
Rental income of cof-
fee and curio shops 
increased.

The ACD generated 
R60 000 through loan to 
Anglo American Farms 
at Vergelegen.
Archaeological  
contract work gener-
ated over R50 000 in 
income.

1.4.6.  Strategic objective 6:  Ensure financial viability for Iziko.
Although we have been successful in raising additional funds for many of our exhibitions, 
educational programmes, research, conservation and other community projects, a steadily 
decreasing government grant (in real terms) has made it difficult to meet the target set by 
our executive authority that no more than 75% of the subsidy should be spent on salaries.



2. Annual Financial  
 Statements

Corporate Governance arrangements
Governance of the institution was streamlined through the introduction of a system of 
subcommittees of Council corresponding to three main functional areas: Core Functions, 
Marketing and Fundraising, and Operations. In addition, an independent Audit Committee was 
constituted that has been able to offer professional advice on financial matters. It remains to 
appoint an internal auditor and this is planned for the new fiscal year.

The Council recognises that good governance and compliance practices are crucial for the 
development and sustaining of the museum and is committed to instilling good governance 
and compliance processes into all its operations going forward.

Risk Management 
While Iziko has not completed its Risk Management strategy, external consultants assessed 
key risk areas of systems and services. A risk analysis was conducted at four Iziko sites, William 
Fehr Collection (Castle of Good Hope), Slave Lodge, South African National Gallery and the 
South African Museum. The security, fire protection, access control, CCTV and electrical systems 
were assessed and the associated risks were established. In addition, an analysis of the current 
IT network environment was done to ascertain the networks readiness to handle the increased 
load required by the real-time video streaming and control devices that are proposed.   

Iziko is in the process of addressing these risks and the proposed systems will be implemented 
in 2005.

Materiality and Significance Framework for the 2004/2005 Financial Year 
In terms of the PFMA and National Treasury Regulation 28.1.5, the Council has developed and 
agreed to a framework of acceptable levels of materiality and significance (see Appendix 4.6).
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Report of the Audit Committee
The Iziko Audit Committee is pleased to present its report for the financial year ended 
31 March 2005, in accordance with Treasury Regulations 27.1.7 and 27.1.10(b) and (c) 
issued in terms of section 76 of the Public Finance Management Act (No. 1 of 1999).

Audit Committee members and attendance
The Audit Committee, which was established on 5 March 2004, consists of the members 
listed below and meets ordinarily on a quarterly basis as per its approved terms of refer-
ence.  Four meetings were held during the current financial year.

Name of member                                  Number of meetings attended

R. G. Nicholls (Chairperson) (Independent) 4

M. C. Brewis (Independent) 3

Adv. D. J. Mitchell (Independent) 4

Dr M. Fabricius (Non-executive Council Member) 3

Dr E. Links (Chairperson of Council) 3

The Audit Committee reports that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as 
its Audit Committee Charter, has regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter and 
has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein.

System of internal audit
There was no system of internal audit in operation during the financial year, as is required 
by section 51(1)(a) of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA).  

The Audit Committee has taken steps to remedy this shortcoming and an in-house 
internal audit function has been established.  After a thorough deliberation and selec-
tion process, an experienced former Iziko department head of operations, Mr H. Brumfield, 
was appointed as internal auditor with effect from 1 July 2005.  He will be assisted as 
from 1 August by two internal audit assistants who are students on secondment from 
the Cape Peninsula University of Technology.  A preliminary internal audit plan has been 
compiled with support from the Institute of Internal Auditors and internal audit work has 
commenced.  The initial focus will be the development of a fraud prevention plan and the 
implementation of measures to correct identified internal control weaknesses.

The effectiveness of internal control
Iziko’s system of internal control was not fully effective during the year:

Certain prescribed policies and procedures were not formally in place.  These instances of 
statutory non-compliance have been reported on by the Auditor-General in his manage-
ment letter for the year under review.  In several instances, draft policies or guidelines were 
followed but these require refinement and formal adoption.

In certain other operational areas, control measures were ineffective.  These internal 
control weaknesses require further attention and senior management has been tasked with 
this responsibility.

Key areas requiring improvement or further attention are the following:
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 As required by Regulation 27.2.1, a technical risk assessment was completed during the 
year with the assistance of independent security risk consultants.  Steps are now being 
taken to improve physical security at all key Iziko sites and to introduce better access 
control, surveillance, intruder detection and fire alarm systems.

 The new internal audit function has been tasked to develop a fraud prevention plan as 
required by Regulation 27.2.1 and to focus on all cash-handling and high risk areas.

 The executive management team has been reorganised and senior positions have been 
filled.  The delegation of authority policy required by section 56(1) will now be revised 
to reflect the new structure.  Standing procurement guidelines will also now be revised 
into a formal procurement policy.

 A formalised supply chain management system has not yet been developed, as envis-
aged in Regulation 1734.

 An appropriate policy for managing investments and bank accounts must be developed 
and instituted.

Ancillary external audits
Two ancillary external project audits were completed during the year:

  The Auditor-General audited various Iziko research projects financed by the National 
Research Foundation (NRF).  While the overall conclusion was that funds were being 
used in accordance with guidelines prescribed by the NRF, the audit indicated a need 
for an approved policy framework governing the utilisation and disbursement of allo-
cated grants.

  Ernst & Young conducted an audit inspection in respect of all Iziko projects funded by 
the National Lottery Fund (NLF).  No proper audit feedback was given and a request 
for a formal audit report to Iziko has been refused.  Preliminary indications were that 
the auditors did not understand the nature, scope and timetable of the Iziko projects 
concerned, while it appeared that total funds approved by the National Lotteries Board 
(NLB) had not actually been granted to Iziko.  Closer liaison between Iziko and the NLB 
is clearly required, and the Auditor-General has been asked to obtain the appropriate 
level of audit feedback.

Financial and operational reporting
Monthly management accounts have been improved and there is better budgetary variance 
reporting.

Financial irregularities
Several employees were found to have misappropriated front-of-house cash receipts 
and incidental donations or to have incurred unauthorised expenditure.  Due disciplinary 
process has been followed.  Eight employees have been dismissed, while in one case disci-
plinary proceedings were postponed due to the employee’s ill-health.

Strategic planning and project control
A long-term financial plan needs to be developed and included as part of Iziko’s long-term 
strategic plan.

Management oversight and direction of special projects and exhibitions must likewise also 
include a financial review, with project and budgetary controls.
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Review of accounting policies
Medical aid benefits provided to retired former employees are brought to account as and 
when incurred.  An exercise is being conducted with independent actuarial support to 
enable Iziko to quantify and report its post-retirement liabilities in the manner envisaged 
by Accounting Statement AC116.  A change of accounting policy will be considered when 
this exercise has been completed.

Evaluation of Financial Statements
The Audit Committee has:

 reviewed the audited annual financial statements which are to be included in the 
annual report, and has discussed these with the Auditor-General and the Accounting 
Officer

 reviewed the Auditor-General’s management letter and management’s response 
thereto

 reviewed all significant adjustments and amendments that resulted from the audit.

The Audit Committee concurs with the Auditor-General’s conclusions on the annual  
financial statements and is of the opinion that the audited annual financial statements 
should be accepted and read together with the report of the Auditor-General.

N. Nicholls
Chairperson of the Audit Committee

Date:  2 August 2005
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1. AUDIT ASSIGNMENT 
The financial statements as set out on pages 34 to 49, for the year ended 31 March 2005, have 
been audited in terms of section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 
(Act No. 108 of 1996), read with sections 4  and 20 of the  Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 
25 of 2004) and section 11 of the Cultural Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 119 of 1998). These 
financial statements, the maintenance of effective control measures and compliance with 
relevant laws and regulations are the responsibility of the accounting authority. My responsi-
bility is to express an opinion on these financial statements, based on the audit.

2. NATURE AND SCOPE
The audit was conducted in accordance with Statements of South African Auditing Standards. 
Those standards require that I plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that 
the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit includes:

 examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the finan-
cial statements;

 assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management;  
and

 evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

 Furthermore, an audit includes an examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting compli-
ance in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations which came to my atten-
tion and are applicable to financial matters. 

The audit was completed in accordance with Auditor-General Directive No. 1 of 2005.

I believe that the audit provides a reasonable basis for my opinion.  

3. AUDIT OPINION
 In my opinion, the financial statements fairly present, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the IZIKO Museums of Cape Town at 31 March 2005 and the results of its opera-
tions and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practice and in the manner required by the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No.1 of 
1999).

EMPHASIS OF MATTER
Without qualifying the audit opinion expressed above, attention is drawn to the following 
matters:

Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on the Financial Statements  
of  Iziko Museums of Cape Town for the year ended 31 March 2005



 iziko museums of cape town annual report 2004/2005 29

4.1  Non-compliance with the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA)

Supply Chain Management  
At the time of the audit the prescribed supply chain management system had not yet been 
developed by the entity. This issue had also been reported on in the previous audit report.

Fraud Prevention Plan
A risk management strategy and fraud prevention plan had not yet been developed and 
implemented by the entity.

Internal audit
A system of internal audit under control and direction of an audit committee was not 
functional for the year under review. 

Investment policy
A draft investment policy was developed and applied during the year under review but had 
not yet submitted the policy to the Executive Committee for recommendation and approval 
by Council at the end of the financial year. 

Delegations
A system of delegation of authority, which indicates approval levels according to the types 
of actions and amounts, were not approved and implemented during the year under review.

Cash and Bank 
No evidence could be obtained during the audit that the accounting authority submitted a 
list of all existing banking arrangements by 31 May of each year to National Treasury. 

4.2 Unique identification number of fixed assets
During the verification of fixed assets, it was identified that all items of fixed assets 
relating to furniture and equipment are not marked with unique identification codes. 

5.  APPRECIATION
The assistance rendered by the staff of IZIKO Museums of Cape Town during the audit is 
sincerely appreciated.

W J Swart for Auditor-General

Cape Town

31 July 2005
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Statement of Responsibility
The Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999), as amended, requires the Council 
to ensure that Iziko Museums of Cape Town (Iziko) keeps full and proper records of its financial 
affairs. The annual financial statements should fairly present the state of affairs of Iziko, its finan-
cial results, its performance against predetermined objectives and its financial position at the end 
of the year in terms of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP).

The annual financial statements are the responsibility of the Council. The Auditor-General is 
responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the financial statements. The Office of 
the Auditor-General has audited Iziko’s financial statements and the report appears on page 34.

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Statements of Gener-
ally Accepted Accounting Practice. These annual financial statements are based on appropriate 
accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Council has reviewed Iziko’s budgets and cash flow forecasts for the year ended 31 March 
2005. On the basis of the review, and in view of the current financial position, the Council has 
every reason to believe that Iziko will be a going concern in the year ahead and has continued to 
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

The Council sets standards to enable management to meet the above responsibilities by imple-
menting systems of internal control and risk management, where possible, that are designed to 
provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance against material misstatements and losses. The 
entity maintains internal financial controls to provide assurance regarding:

 The safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use or disposition

 The maintenance of proper accounting records and the reliability of financial information used 
within Iziko or for publication.

The controls contain self-monitoring mechanisms, and actions are taken to correct deficiencies as 
they are identified. Even an effective system of internal control, no matter how well designed, has 
inherent limitations, including the possibility of circumvention or the overriding of controls. An 
effective system of internal control, therefore, aims to provide reasonable assurance with respect 
to the reliability of financial information and the presentation of financial statements. However, 
because of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of internal financial controls may vary over time.

The Council has reviewed Iziko’s systems of internal control and risk management for the period 
from 1 April 2004 to 31 March 2005. The Council is of the opinion that Iziko’s systems of internal 
control and risk management were effective for the period under review.

In the opinion of the Council, based on the information available to date, the annual financial 
statements fairly present the financial position of Iziko at 31 March 2005 and the results of its 
operations and cash flow information for the year, and that the Code of Corporate Practices and 
conduct has been adhered  to. The annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 
2005, set out on pages  34–49 were submitted for auditing on 31 May 2005 and approved by the 
Council in terms of section 51(1)(f) of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 
1999), as amended and are signed on its behalf by:

Prof. H.C. Bredekamp (Chief Executive Officer) Dr. E. Links (Chairperson)

  

Date:   29 July 2005
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Management Report
Report by the Accounting Officer to the Executive Authority and Parliament  
of the Republic of South Africa.

1. General review of the state of affairs
Iziko’s results for the year show good progress towards a steady growth of reserves. There was 
a significant increase of 22% in cash and cash equivalents from R 16,997,368 to R20,806,009. 
This growth is due to external funding, which is earmarked for specific projects that have a 
lifespan of two to three years and management’s commitment to maximise revenue and reduce 
operational costs.

Iziko received most of its funding, through a subsidy allocation from the government, i.e. 
the National Department of Arts and Culture (DAC). Iziko’s revenue increased by 12% from 
R41,844,572 to R47,101,354. Subsidy allocation from DAC was 69% of total revenue while 
20% was through donor funding and 11% was own income generated through entrance fees, 
venue hire, rental of premises and professional museums services.  

Iziko’s operating expenditure for 2004/2005 was R43,374,054. Operating expenditure includes 
63% fixed costs on personnel, 15% administrative costs and 22% core function activities. Of 
the 22% core function activities expenditure, 18% was fully funded externally. Iziko is depen-
dent on external funding for its core function programmes. External funding was received from 
national government agencies, research foundations, corporate business, and private individual 
donors.  

Iziko’s financial circumstances are stable with a minimum net income of 9%, an increase from 
R2,269,028 to R3,727,301. While Iziko has received limited funding for its operations over the 
last few years, it practised good governance with regard to the managing of its funds, as well 
as compliance, where possible, with the Public Finance Management Act and observing the 
requirements of donor funding.

While a great deal of work still lies ahead to improve the bottom line and meet the targets 
set in the strategic plan, the results for the year show progress, and management remains 
committed to achieving their strategic objectives.

2. Services rendered by Iziko Museums
2.1 Services
Iziko’s core business is to manage and promote its unique combination of South Africa’s 
heritage collections, sites and services for the benefit of present and future generations. The 
services rendered by Iziko in these areas, among others, are: exhibitions, education and public 
programmes, collections management, collection loans and conservation, research, curatorial 
services and publication.

The three collections divisions offer, in collaboration with the Education and Public 
Programmes Division, exhibitions that meet the needs of education and life-long learning. 
Their themes are directed at giving priority to addressing the need to correct the imbalances 
of the past in the representation of art and history, thus contributing to nation building and 
transformation.   

In addition to Iziko’s core business, services such as venue hire, outsourcing of coffee shops, 
museum retail shops and professional museum services are rendered.
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2.2 Tariff policy
Tariffs are charged for entrance fees, rental of premises, venue hire, photographic services and 
professional museum services. Tariffs are negotiated at the onset of entering into a service 
agreement. Iziko reviews tariffs on an annual basis.

Capacity constraints
Due to lack of funding Iziko is not able to grow its human capital to its full potential and 
is unable to employ the necessary staff required to fulfil its core function activities to the 
maximum potential. For example, the Director of Marketing and Fundraising, which is an 
approved post and crucial for Iziko’s institutional development could not be activated. 

Capacity constraints delayed the completion of projects and the risk management strategy, 
which also resulted in under expenditure during the financial year. Iziko’s capacity constraints 
will be alleviated by the implementation of a proposed refinement of the organisational struc-
ture and the filling of the relevant posts.  Attention will be given to addressing this through 
performance management in the coming year.

Iziko has procurement guidelines in place but did not have the staffing capacity to develop a 
Supply Chain Management framework. Similarly, it was not possible to develop all the policies 
and procedures in compliance with legislation.

4. Utilisation of donor funds
Iziko received an increase of 33% in donations from R6,144,202 to R9,226,790. Donations 
were received from national government agencies, research foundations, corporate business, 
and private individual donors. The funds were earmarked and utilised for specific projects, such 
as acquisitions, exhibitions, conservation, research and education that had a lifespan of two to 
three years. These projects form an integral part of the museum’s core function activities and 
have significantly contributed to Iziko’s success.

5. Business address
Physical address: Postal address:
25 Queen Victoria Street, Cape Town  PO Box 61, Cape Town, 8000 

6. New/proposed activities
The professional staff in the Art, Natural History and Social History Collections Divisions are 
skilled in museum practice and in specialized areas of historical knowledge. They are well 
placed to pass on their skills but Iziko needs funding to support trainee positions (especially 
from previously disadvantaged communities).

One of our major projects for the next three to five years is the redevelopment of the Slave 
Lodge as a Museum of Slavery, which will require substantial fundraising, as will the develop-
ment of a Centre for Contemporary Art in Cape Town. 

7. Approval
The annual financial statements as set out on pages 31 to 49 have been approved and autho-
rised for issue on 22 July 2005 by the Iziko Council and signed on its behalf by:

Prof. H.C. Bredekamp   Dr. E. Links

(Chief Executive Officer)   (Chairperson)
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IZIKO MUSEUMS OF CAPE TOWN
                

INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2005
        
        
        

 Notes 2005 2004 
        

 R    R 
        

REVENUE  47,101,355 41,844,572 
     
Government Grant: Department of Arts & Culture 32,256,000 30,163,000 

Donations  9,226,790 6,144,202 

Admission Fees 2,017,619 1,749,001

Interest Received 1,606,548 1,438,957 

Other Income 1,994,398 2,349,412 

      

Operating expenses (43,374,054) (39,575,544) 
        
        

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 10 3,727,301  2,269,028  
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Balance sheet as 31 March 2005

        

Notes   2005   2004

  R   R

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 2   2,548,888    1,463,550

 Current assets 21,761,162 25,756,987

Inventories 3        140,280       164,989

Trade and other receivables 4      814,873       878,932

Grants receivable 5              –    7,716,697

Cash and cash equivalents 6 20,806,009 16,996,368

Total assets 24,310,050 27,220,537

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Funds and reserves 10,057,553    6,282,202

Accumulated reserves 10,055,357    6,280,006

Trust funds           2,196            2,196

Current liabilities 14,252,497 20,938,335

Trade and other payables 7       655,089       413,264

Bank overdraft       114,475          –

Provisions 8    3,393,862    4,415,971

Deferred income 9 10,089,070 16,109,099

Total equity and liabilities 24,310,050 27,220,537
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2005
     

   2005  2004
     
   R  R    
 
Accumulated Reserves     
     
Balance at beginning of the year   6,328,056  4,010,978
     
Balance as previously stated   6,280,006  3,946,226

Adjustments 48,050 64,752
     
Change in accounting policy – –
     
Net surplus/(deficit)   3,727,301  2,269,028
       
Balance at end of the year 10,055,357 6,280,006
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2005
        

 Notes 2005 2004

  R R
        
Net cash inflow from operating activities  5,658,635 3,397,515   
        
Cash generated from operations 11 4,052,088  1,958,558

Cash receipts from customers and donors  53,387,246  32,553,871
Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (49,335,158)  (30,595,313)

  1,606,548 1,438,957
       
      

Net cash outflow from investing activities  (1,848,994) (347,477)

Purchase of  fixed assets  (1,848,994) (640,627)

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets   293,150

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  3,809,641 3,050,038
     
   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year     16,996,368   13,946,330    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  20,806,009   16,996,368  
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements  for the year 
ending 31 March 2005

1. Accounting Policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the statements of Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice.  The following are the principal accounting policies of Iziko 
Museums of Cape Town (Iziko) which are consistent, in all material respects, with those applied 
in the previous year, except as otherwise indicated.

1.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. 

1.2 Property, Plant and Equipment

1.2.1 Land and buildings
Land and buildings are registered in the name of the Department of Public Works and are made 
available to Iziko on a permanent basis.

1.2.2 Vehicles, furniture and equipment
Assets comprising of computer equipment and software, furniture, fittings and equipment as 
well as motor vehicles, are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation.   Depre-
ciation is calculated on the straight-line method writing off the cost of each asset over its 
estimated useful life at a rate of 20% per annum. 

1.2.3 Acquisitions of Collections (Heritage Assets)
In line with similar organisations, the value of collections (heritage assets) are not capitalised 
in the financial statements because it cannot be reliably measured. Acquisitions of collections, 
including library books, are recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

1.3 Leases

1.3.1 Finance Leases
No finance lease agreements are in place.

1.3.2 Operating Leases
Operating leases are leases where the lessor retains the risk and reward of ownership of the 
underlying asset.  Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement 
over the period of the lease.

1.4 Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or net realisable value.  The cost is determined on 
the weighted average method.

1.5 Deferred Income
Deferred income is income received for special projects that have a life cycle of at least two 
years and more. The income is recognised on a systematic basis over the periods necessary to 
match the income received with the related costs. 

1.6 Financial Instruments
Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash, bank balances, call and notice 
deposits, receivables and creditors.   These instruments are initially measured at cost.  Subse-
quent to initial recognition these instruments are measured as set out below:
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1.6.1 Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated at cost less provision for doubtful debts.  A provision 
for doubtful debts is recognised by taking into account debts that had been outstanding 
for a period exceeding 90 days.

1.6.2 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost which equates their fair value.   Interest on 
cash in bank, call and notice deposits are accrued for on a day to day basis.

1.6.3 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised at cost.

1.7 Provisions
Provisions are recognised for a present legal obligation as a result of past events, for which 
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

1.8 Post-Employment benefit costs
Iziko offers post-employment benefits, comprising retirement benefits and post-retirement 
medical aid plans to their employees.

1.8.1 Pension fund
Iziko operates both defined contribution and defined benefit plans.  The assets are general-
ly held in three separate trustee-administered funds: the Iziko Retirement Fund (a defined 
contribution fund); and two defined-benefit funds, the Museums Pension Fund and the 
Associated Institutions Pension Fund. The Museums Pension Fund is a multi-employer plan. 
The Iziko Retirement Fund and Museums Pension Fund are administered on behalf of Iziko 
by pension fund administrators and governed by the Pensions Fund Act, 1956 as amended, 
while the Associated Institutions Pension Fund Act, 1963 (Act 41 of 1963) governs the As-
sociated Institutions Pension Fund. An independent Board of Trustees manages each fund. 

The Museums Pension Fund requires an actuarial valuation every three years.  

1.8.2 Post-retirement medical benefit
Iziko provides post-retirement healthcare benefits to its retirees based on the following 
policy:
An employee who joins the medical aid scheme contributes one third (1/3) of the total 
healthcare contribution and Iziko the balance.
The entitlement to post-retirement healthcare benefit is based on the employee remain-
ing a contributing member of the medical aid schemes and remaining in the service up to 
retirement age. The assets are generally held in separate trustee-administered medical aid 
funds, namely, Fedhealth and Bestmed Medical Scheme.  

1.9 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 
hand and at bank as well as notice deposits held on call with banks. 

1.10 Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised on the accrual basis.
Government grants are the subsidy allocation paid by the Department of Arts and Culture 
on a monthly basis.  Government grants and donations received are accrued during the 
period in which Iziko became entitled to receive them.
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 2004
 R R R R R

Gross carrying amount the beginning of year

Accumulated depreciation at beginning of year

Net carrying amount the beginning of year

Movements during the year

Acquisitions   101,973                –            260,829              277,824            640,627 

Depreciation expensed for the year (44,807)         (159,394)            (111,810)            (227,112)           (543,122) 

Disposals                      –   

Net carrying amount the end of year         218,271            287,333             415,574              542,373         1,463,550 

     

Gross carrying amount the end of year         406,811            796,968          1,079,282           2,094,105         4,377,165 

Accumulated depreciation at end of year        (188,540)           (509,635)            (663,708)          (1,551,733)       (2,913,615) 

     2005
 R R R R R

Gross carrying amount the beginning of year 

Accumulated depreciation at beginning of year     

Net carrying amount the beginning of year      

Furniture Vehicles Equipment Computers TOTAL
304,837

(143,733)

796,968

(350,241)

 818,452

(551,898)

1,816,281

(1,324,620)

  3,736,538

 (2,370,493)

161,104 446,727 266,554 491,660 1,366,045

Revenue from the sale of goods and services are recognised when significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the goods and services are transferred to the buyer.
Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, taking account of the principal out-
standing and the effective rate over the period of maturity.

1.11 Taxation
Iziko is exempt from taxation in terms of the provision of Section 10(1)(cA)(i) of the  
Income Tax Act as amended.

1.12 Comparative figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in  
presentation in the current year. 

2. Property, Plant and Equipment

Furniture Vehicles Equipment Computers TOTAL
406,811

(188,540)

796,968

(509,635)

1,079,282

(663,708)

2,094,105

(1551,733)

4,377,165

(2,913,615)

218,271 287,333 415,574 542,373 1,463,550
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Movements during the year     
Acquisitions  79,555 – 1,207,104 562,336 1,848,994

Disposals   ( 96,840)       (96,840)

Accumulated Depreciation on disposals   66,209        66,209

Depreciation expensed for the year (60,492) (130,217) (268,221) (274,096)     (733,026)

     

     

Net carrying amount the end of year 237,334 126,485 1,354,456 830,613 2,548,888

     

Gross carrying amount the end of year 486,366 700,128 2,286,385 2,656,441 6,129,320

Accumulated depreciation at end of year (249,031) (573,643) (931,929) (1,825,829) (3,580,432)

3. Inventories
 2005 2004

 R R

Merchandise: Promotional items 70,285 82,222

Stationery and consumables 69,995 82,767             
      

  140,280 164,989

4. Trade and other receivables
 2005 2004

 R R

Value added tax refund due 411,182 327,331

Staff loans 17,835 33,699

Accounts receivable 653,647 891,302

  1,082,664 1,252,332

Provision for doubtful debts (267,791) (373,400)

  814,873 878,932
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5. Grants receivable
 2005 2004
 R R

   
Department of Arts and Culture – 7,383,697

National Lottery Board – 333,000

 – 7,716,697

6. Cash and cash equivalents 
 2005 2004
 R R   

Call and notice deposit accounts 20,784,570 7,155,731

Cash at bank and on hand 21,439 9,840,637

 20,806,009 16,996,368

Call and notice deposit accounts are short-term, highly liquid investments that are held  
with registered banking institutions with maturities of 40 days or less and that are subject  
to insignificant interest rate risk.  

7. Trade and other payables
 2005 2004
 R R   

Rent deposits 6,580 7,980

Trade creditors and accruals 762,984 405,284

  769,564 413,264

8. Provisions
 R R  

 2005 2004
Gross carrying amount at the beginning of the year  4,415,971 4,294,914

Utilised during the year (1,029,592) (696,873)

  3,386,379 3,598,041

Increase in provisions 7,483 817,930

Gross carrying amount at the end of the year 3,393,862 4,415,971
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Leave Pay
The provision for leave pay represents Iziko’s obligation to pay as a result of employees’ 
services provided up to the date of the balance sheet.  The provision is measured as the 
additional amount that is expected to be paid as a result of unused leave entitlement 
that has accumulated as at the balance sheet date, taking into account the undiscounted 
amount of current cost to employer per employee.

Annual Bonus
The provision for annual bonus represents Iziko’s obligation to pay as a result of pro-rata 
annual bonus for the period November 2004 up the balance sheet date of 31 March 2005 
due to employees.   The provision is measured at the additional amount that is expected to 
be paid as a result of bonuses payable annually in November, retrospective for the period 
November to October of each year.

9. Deferred Income
   

Projects per division Number
of projects

Total Deferred
Income 

To be utilised
within 1 year

 To be utilised in
Year 2 and thereafter

Natural History Collections

Social History Collections

Art Collections

Central Services

Human Resources

Education & Public Programmes

Property Services 

Internal audit Function

R R R R

24    697,135             599,739               97,396

20 2,662,656          2,044,072             618,584

17 1,273,829          1,018,979             254,850

 4     97,916               74,792               23,124

1       8,858                 8,858                    –

10    834,676             633,712             200,965

2   4,250,000          4,250,000                   –

1      264,000             264,000                   –

Total     10,890,070          8,894,152          1,194,918
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10. Net surplus (deficit) for the year
Net surplus (deficit) has been arrived at after charging:
 2005 2004
 R R

Personnel Expenses 27,430,807 26,396,466

Audit fees 252,671 299,683

Bank and legal costs 201,947 101,795

Consultants 57,629 116,764

Depreciation 733,026 543,122

Operating leases 584,987 246,507

Insurance 383,974 428,339

Debt written off  – 106,299

Provision for doubtful debts (105,610) 8,456

Irrecoverable costs – 59,032

Licenses & Networking fees 186,392 228,408

Computers and printers 23,601 29,323

Furniture & Equipment 51,712 58,227

Library costs 374,312 329,606

Museum core function activities 9,495,720 7,373,374

Other operating expenses 3,701,885 3,250,143

       

11. Cash Flow Statement

11.1 Reconciliation of cash generated in operations 
 2005 2004

 R R  

Net surplus/(deficit) for the year 3,727,301 2,269,028

Depreciation 733,026 543,122

Profit on disposal of fixed assets and adjustments              30,631 (293, 150)

Interest received (1,606,548) (1,438,957)

Operating surplus/(deficit) before working  2,884,410 1,080,043 
capital changes

Working capital changes 1,119,628 813,763

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 7,780,756 (7,660,758)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 24,710 (83,119)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (6,685,838) 8,557,641

Adjustments 48,050 64,752

Cash generated in operations 4,052,088 1,958,558
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12. Financial Instruments
12.1 Credit risk
Financial assets, which potentially subject the Council to concentrations of credit risk, 
consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents as well as trade and other receivables.  The 
amount presented in the balance sheet is net of provision for doubtful debts, estimated on 
prior experience and the current economic environment.

12.2 Interest rate risk
The Council is not locked into long-term interest rates because cash and cash equivalents 
are call and notice deposit funds held at registered banks with high credit ratings.  During 
the year under review the Council earned average interest rates of approximately 5,7%.  

12.3 Fair value of financial instruments
At year-end the carrying value of all cash and cash equivalent, trade and other receivables, 
other payables, deferred income and provisions approximated their fair value due to the 
short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities. 

13. Operating leases
The operating leases comprise of rentals charged for telephone, vehicles and photocopiers.

The total future minimum lease payments under these leases are as follows:

 2005 2004
 R R
   
Due within one year 442,008 468,182

Due between one to five years  896,002 1,435,984

 1,338,010 1,904,166

14.  Emoluments of Council, Audit Committee Members and Executive

          2005
Emoluments of Council Members R

   L. Bernardo
   E. Links
   C. Soudien
   H. Deacon
   K.M. Skawran
   S. Ozinsky
  Z. Hlatshwayo
  A.W. Oliphant
  M. Fabricius

7,800
7,800
6,500
8,450
5,880
1,773
1,300
5,200
1,300

    46,003
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2005 

 Emoluments of Audit Committee Members R
N. Nicholls
M. Brewis
D. Mitchell
M. Fabricius
E. Links

7,000
5,750
6,250
2,250
2,875

No comparative amounts are shown for 2004 because fees payable to Council and  
Audit Committee members commenced during the year under review.

The rate for Council Members is R650 per meeting attended. The rate for Audit Committee  
members is R1 000 per official audit committee meeting and R250 per hour up to a  
maximum of R1 000 for ad-hoc committee meetings attended. 

Emoluments of  CEO and Directors      
      

2005       

 Salaries Bonus Allowances Employer 
contributions

Total

Chief Executive Officer 
Prof HC Bredekamp

 
CEO

 
427,712

 
36,328

 
97,790

 
118,581

 
680,411

Directors
Mrs F Allie Central Service & 

CFO
219,436 18,638 56,039  60,500 354,613

Ms VC Carelse Education & Public 
Programmes

219,436 18,638 56,039   60,507 354,620

Dr  MA Cluver Property Services 252,344 21,433 56,039 105,778 435,594

Ms D Crous Human Resources 252,344 21,433 56,039   84,545 414,361

Dr  PJ Davison Social History  
Collections

260,268 22,106 44,273   89,133 415,780

Ms M Martin Art Collections 299,308 25,422 56,038   94,347 475,116

Dr HG Robertson Natural History 
Collections

221,224 18,790 55,096   81,714 376,824

      

24,125

2,152,072 182,788 477,353 695,105 3,507,318
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2004         

 Salaries Bonus * Allowances * Employer 
   Contributions

Total

Chief Executive Officer 
Prof HC Bredekamp

 CEO  
401,700

 
34,272

 
91,093

 
108,929

 
635,994

Directors

Mrs F Allie Central Service and 
CFO

206,088 17,583 52,630 57,122 333,423

Ms VC Carelse Education and  
Public Programmes

206,095 17,583 52,630 57,131 333,436

Dr  MA Cluver Property Services 236,997 20,220 52,630 89,412 399,259

Ms D Crous Human Resources 236,997 20,220 52,630 58,215 368,062

Dr  PJ Davison Social History  
Collections

244,439 20,855 41,580 81,399 388,273

Ms M Martin Art Collections 281,102 23,983 52,630 88,059 445,774

Dr HG Robertson Natural History  
Collections

207,767 17,726 52,630 84,829 362,952

Remuneration is shown at cost to company package, based on basic salary, bonuses, allow-
ances and employee benefit contributions by Iziko up to balance sheet date.  Remuneration 
costs are charged to the income statement in the year to which it relates.

*    The 2004 amounts for allowances and employer contributions were restated to be 
consistent with the disclosure for this year.  The employee contributions instead of the 
employer contributions were disclosed in the prior year.  

2,021,182 172,442 *  448,453 *   625,096 3,267,176
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15. Post-Employment benefit costs

15.1 Pension fund 
The defined contribution and defined benefit plans are generally funded by payments from 
Iziko and the employees, taking into account the recommendations of independent quali-
fied actuaries. The Museums Pension Fund was actuarially valued at 1 April 2004. Insuf-
ficient information is available for Iziko to account for the Museums Pension Fund as a de-
fined benefit plan. The actuarial valuation is done for the plan in its entirety and does not 
specify Iziko’s obligation, plan assets or liability in terms of the fund. No provision is made 
for actuarial losses because the employer contributions would be increased as determined 
through the actuarial valuation. There were no increases in the employer contribution dur-
ing the year under review. 

The rules of the Museums Pension Fund were amended to include a defined contribution 
category and that no additional members will join the defined benefit category with effect 
from 1 April 2003. All new employees appointed with effect from 1 April 2003 will join the 
defined contribution category while the existing employees will remain members of the 
defined benefit category of the Museums Pension Fund at the existing contribution rate.

Payments to the defined contribution and benefit plans are charged to the income state-
ment in the year to which it relates. 

The following rates of contribution are applied:

Iziko Retirement Fund

Defined Contribution category:
Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual bonus) and 
the employer contributes 20,62%.

Museums Pension Fund

Defined Benefit category:
Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual bonus) and 
the employer contributes 24.6%.

Defined Contribution category:
Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual bonus) and 
the employer contributes 12.76%.  The employer contribution rates can fluctuate as a 
result of changes to the insured benefit rate.

At balance sheet date only one employee had joined this category of the fund.

Associated Institutions Pension Fund

Defined Benefit category:
Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary only) and the employer 
contributes 12%.

15.2 Medical aid 
The medical schemes are funded by payments from retirees and Iziko.  Iziko’s contribution 
to the medical schemes is charged to the income statement in the year to which it relates.
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No provision is made for future liability in the financial statements.  The cost for future 
medical liability for 2005/2006 is made up of two-thirds contributions of the total pre-
mium and amounts to R 683,650.  

A total of forty one (41) retirees participate in this scheme and therefore it is probable that 
this liability could increase.

16. Contingent liabilities
Iziko has contingent liabilities to the value of R 93,351 relating to first mortgage bonds 
in respect of 100% housing loan guarantees on behalf of employees who are members of 
the Iziko Retirement Fund. Fifty seven (57) employees participate in this pension fund and 
therefore it is probable that this liability could increase.    

17. Public Finance Management Act (PFMA)

17.1 Section 55 (2)
No material losses due to criminal conduct nor any unauthorised expenditure, irregular ex-
penditure, fruitless or wasteful expenditure have occurred during the current financial year.  

17.2 Section 53(3)
The Council may not accumulate surpluses unless prior written approval of the National 
Treasury has been obtained.  Approval was obtained from National Treasury that all sched-
ule 3 A Public Entities are exempted from investing their surplus funds with the Corpora-
tion for Public Deposits as prescribed in Treasury Regulation 31.

17.3 Section 54 (2)
In terms of the PFMA and National Treasury Regulation 28.1.5, the Council has developed 
and agreed to a framework of acceptable levels of materiality and significance (See  
Appendix 4.6).



3. HUMAN RESOURCE   
 MANAGEMENT

3.1. Expenditure
In 2001 all positions were graded in terms of the Peromnes system but Iziko has not been 
able to afford market-related annual increases, nor has it been able to keep up with the 
Public Service increases. The Public Service Co-ordinating Bargaining Council (PSCBC) ne-
gotiates salary increases after the budget for public entities has been finalised and grants 
allocated. DAC does not provide additional funding for public entities to give their staff the 
increase negotiated for public servants.

National museums have also inherited a generous benefit structure from the public service 
that has become quite a financial burden to Iziko. The process of reviewing benefits com-
menced and will continue in the next financial year.
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Table 1. Personnel Cost 2004-5

 

Total Expenditure Personnel  
Expenditure

Training  
Expenditure

Consultancy  
Services

Personnel cost as 
a percent of total 
expenditure

Average personnel 
cost per employee

R36,254,300 R28,791,517 R216,511.79 R93,409.83 79.42% R102,098

Table 2. Salaries, Overtime, Housing Subsidy, Medical Assistance, Pension Fund  
 Contributions, Other Allowances and Leave Gratuities for 2004-5

Amount Salaries as a 
% of person-
nel cost

Amount Overtime 
as a % of 
personnel 
cost

Amount H/A as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount Medical Assist-
ance as a % of 
personnel cost

R17,996,986 62.5% R914,064 3.17% R930,127  3.23% R1,537,627 5.34%

Amount Pension  
contributions as 
% of personnel 

cost

Amount Allowances as 
% of  

personnel 
cost

Amount Leave gratuities as 
% of personnel cost

Amount Leave  
Encashment 

As % of  
personnel cost

R3,947,527 13.71% R556,092 1.93% R67,761 0.24% R961,832 3.34%

Salaries Overtime Housing Allowance Medical Assistance

Pension Fund Contributions Other Allowances Leave Gratuities Leave Encashment 
(excl leave reserve)
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 3.2. Employment and vacancies
A single structure was implemented a year after the the establishment of the Southern 
Flagship Institution, now known as Iziko, was established. Every effort was made to ac-
commodate employees from the five museums that amalgamated. 
During this year vacancies that arose from resignation, retirement or dismissal were filled 
through fixed term contracts. It is envisaged that a performance management process will 
be implemented in the new financial year with the purpose of identifying the effectiveness 
of our human capital resources, and addressing the continued use of fixed term contract 
employees.

3.3.   Job Evaluation
All positions in the Iziko structure have been evaluated and staff are remunerated  
accordingly.

3.4. Employment changes

Table 3.  Annual turnover rates by salary levels for the period 1 January 2004 to 31 March 2005

Occupational levels Number of  
employees as on 

1 April 2004

Appointments and 
transfers into the 

institution

Terminations and 
transfers out of the 

institution

Turnover 
rate

Number at 
31/3/2005

Senior Management 0 0 0 0% 0

Professionally qualified and experi-
enced specialists and mid-manage-
ment

7 0 0 0% 7

Skilled technical and academically 
qualified workers, junior manage-
ment, supervisors, foremen and 
superintendents

105 0 8 7.61% 97

Semi skilled and discretionary  
decision making

65 0 8 12.30% 57

Unskilled and defined decision 
making

2 0 0 0 2

Total 179 0 16 9.95% 163

*Non permanent Employees 48 45 21 50% 72

Total 227 45 37 3.52% 235
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Table 4. Reasons why staff members are leaving the institution

Termination Type Number % of total

Death 1 0.44% 

Resignations 4 1.76% 

Expiry of contract 20 8.81% 

Dismissal – operational changes 0 0%

Dismissal – misconduct 10 4.40% 

Dismissal – in-efficiency 0 0%

Discharged due to ill-health 0 0%

Retirement 1 0.44% 

Other: Termination by mutual agreement 1 0.44% 

Total 37                

Total number of employees who left as a 
% of the total employment

16.29%

3.5. Employment equity
Ms Vivienne Carelse, the Director of Education and Public Programmes, has been appointed 
as the Senior Manager for Employment Equity.

An Employment Equity Consultative Forum was constituted and will provide guidelines on 
the workforce profile required in each occupational category. 

Table 5.  Total Number of Employees in each of the following Post Levels as on 31 March 2005

Post level Male Female Total

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White

* Top Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

* Senior Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Professionally qualified 
and experienced special-
ists and mid-management

0 0 0 2 0 2 0 3 7

Skilled technical and 
 academically qualified 
workers, junior manage-
ment, supervisors, fore-
man and superintendents

4 23 0 18 2 13 0 39 97

Semi skilled and discre-
tionary decision making 

6 16 0 3 9 18 0 3 57

Unskilled and defined  
decision making

0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

TOTAL PERMANENT 10 41 0 23 11 33 0 45 163
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Note:
* The position of Chief Executive Officer is a five-year contract position and reflects as  

part of the “Non-permanent employees”.
* No member of the Senior Management team falls within the Peromnes Grade 1 to 3  

level (Senior Management) range as indicated in Annexure 2 of the Regulations to the 
Employment Equity Act.

Table 6.  Total number of employees in each of the following occupational categories on 31 March 2005

Post level Male Female Total

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White

Legislators, Senior officials 
and managers

0 2 0 5 0 2 0 9 18

Professionals 0 0 0 10 0 1 0 6 17

Technicians and associate 
professions

4 12 0 5 1 3 0 22 47

Clerks 1 2 0 1 4 11 0 5 24

Service and Sales workers 5 10 0 2 6 16 0 2 41

Skilled Agriculture and 
fishery workers

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1

Craft and related trade 
workers

0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 9

Plant and machine opera-
tors and assemblers

0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 4

Elementary occupations 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

TOTAL PERMANENT 10 41 0 23 11 33 0 45 163

Non-permanent Employees 12 21 0 5 10 19 1 4 72

TOTAL 22 62 0 28 21 52 1 49 235

3.6. Foreign workers

Iziko has not employed any foreign workers in this reporting period.

3.7. Leave utilisation for the period 1 April 2004 to 31 March 2005

3.7.1. Annual Leave
Annual leave may not be accumulated. However, many employees accumulated substantial 
amounts of leave before amalgamation. As this liability increases each year as salaries are 
increased, Iziko paid out a maximum of 25 working days leave in July 2004. This has sub-
stantially reduced the liability. Staff members are also expected to take accumulated leave 
over a period of time as Iziko will in future not make leave pay outs to employees when 
they resign.

3.7.2. Sick Leave
The five museums that merged had different conditions of employment. In 2002 Iziko 
negotiated a single set of conditions of employment with staff. Previously staff members 
were entitled to take 120 consecutive days sick leave in a three-year cycle and now they 
are entitled to only 36 working days sick leave and, where appropriate, temporary disability 
management leave. 
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Summary of sick leave 1 April 2004 to 31 March 2005
    

Number of Permanent 
Staff Members

Total days taken 
per year

Average days due per 
person per year

Average days taken 
per person per year

Cost of Sick Leave 
taken in this year

179 1211 12 6.77  R 390,176
 

3.7.3. Special Leave
Staff members are entitled to special leave as prescribed by the Basic Conditions of Em-
ployment Act plus additional special leave such as study leave and leave for compassion-
ate/religious leave. 

3.8. HIV/Aids and health promotion programmes
Last year an extensive HIV/Aids training programme was offered. Each staff member at-
tended a workshop and was given the opportunity to be tested, which included pre-test 
and post-test counselling. This was made possible by generous transformation funding 
from DAC. This year no programme was offered due to financial constraints.

3.9. Labour relations

A process of electing a Staff Representative Forum was completed and the Forum is oper-
ating effectively.

Table 7. Disciplinary action taken from 1 April 2004 to 31 March 2005

Males Females Outcome

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White

3 4 1 2 Dismissed

1 Suspended Dismissal

2 Final Written Warning

4 1 1 Written Warning

1 Pending
       

3.10. Skills development

For the past three years Iziko has spent one percent of payroll on a Learning and  
Development Programme that is based on an annual skills audit that reflects development 
requirements.
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Table 8. Training: the total number of people who received training in each occupational category during  
 the twelve months from 1 April 2004 to 31 March 2005

Post level Male Female Total

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White

Legislators, Senior officials 
and managers

0 2 5 2 9 18

Professionals 0 0 0 9 0 1 0 7 17

Technicians and associate 
professions

3 14 0 6 1 2 0 20 46

Clerks 1 2 0 0 4 11 0 6 24

Service and Sales workers 4 15 0 7 1 16 0 0 43

Skilled Agriculture and 
fishery workers

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1

Craft and related trade 
workers

0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 7

Plant and machine opera-
tors and assemblers

0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

Elementary occupations 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

TOTAL PERMANENT 8 45 0 27 6 32 0 43 161

Non-permanent Employees 5 15 0 6 9 10 1 5 51

TOTAL 13 60 0 33 15 42 1 48 212

Table 9.  Training: Total number of training opportunities received in each occupational category from  
 1 April 2004 to 31 March 2005

Post level Male Female Total

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White

Legislators, Senior  
officials and managers

0 4 0 12 0 6 0 22 44

Professionals 0 0 0 12 0 2 0 10 24

Technicians and associate 
professions

7 28 0 16 2 8 0 35 93

Clerks 1 4 0 0 6 25 0 12 48

Service and Sales workers 6 36 0 12 7 30 0 0 91

Skilled Agriculture and fishery 
workers

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 6

Craft and related trade workers 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 7

Plant and machine operators 
and assemblers

0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 7

Elementary occupations 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

TOTAL PERMANENT 14 88 0 52 15 71 0 82 322

Non-permanent Employees 5 15 0 7 9 10 1 6 51

TOTAL 19 103 0 59 24 81 1 88 373
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3.11. Injury on duty
No serious injuries were incurred during this period.

3.12. Utilisation of consultants
Consultants are used only in instances where the required skills are not available in-
house.  

The services provided by consultants are mainly related to legal advice, job evaluation, 
exhibitions design and consultancy regarding astronomy. Consultants and independent 
contractors are required to transfer their skills to Iziko staff during the consultancy 
process.

AN AWARD-WINNING TEAM 
In November 2004 Iziko’s Democracy X exhibition was presented with the Western Cape Arts, Culture and  
Heritage Award for the best urban museum project of the year. The curatorial team was composed of Iziko  
Social History members and external curators and academics.
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4.1. Publications
Journals
Bredekamp, HC, 2004. Transforming representations of Intangible Heritage at Iziko Museums, South Africa. 

Seoul (http://museumsnett.no/icme/icme2004/index.html).

Bredekamp, HC, 2004. Human Rights, Oral History and Indigenous Peoples’ Memory: The South African 
National Oral History Project and a Griqua People’s Story. In: Comma: 2004.2 International Journal of 
Archives. Paris, pp. 135 – 140.

Bredekamp, HC, 2004. Professor Vernon February: Dit was sy erns in balingskap. In: Koekemakranke: die 
pad van Vernie February (1938 –2002), saamgestel deur E. van den Bergh and T. Kraan. Leiden, African 
Studies Centre, pp 11-12.

Art Collections Division
Catalogues
Bedford, E, Dumont, F and Martin, M. 2004. Tremor: Contemporary Art from South Africa. Brussels, Centre 

d’Art contemporain.

Martin, M. 2004. Der Topf voll Gold am Endes des Regengogens (The Pot of Gold at the End of the 
Rainbow). New Identities Zeitgenössische Kunst aus Südafrika. Germany, Hatje Cantz and Museum 
Bochum.

Martin, M. 2004. An Exhibition to celebrate a decade of democracy. Salford, Salford Museum and Art 
Gallery. 

Proud, H. 2004. A Reflection on the Art of Stanley Pinker. In: Stanley Pinker. Cape Town,  
Michael Stevenson Contemporary.

Contributions to books
Bedford, E. 2004. ‘Marlene Dumas’, ‘David Goldblatt’, ‘William Kentridge’, Dorothee Kreutzfeldt’, ‘Tracey 

Rose’ and ‘Sue Williamson’ in Perryer, S. 10 Years 100 Artists: Art in a Democratic South Africa. Cape 
Town, Bell-Roberts and Struik Publishers.

Journals
Martin, M. 2004. Architecture and Sculpture United at the Cape Town International Convention Centre. 

Sculpture, 23: 10. Washington DC, International Sculpture Center.

Natural History Collections Division
Scientific publications
Avery, G, Kandel, AW, Klein, RG, Conard, NJ and Cruz-Uribe, K. 2004. Tortoises as food and taphonomic 

elements in palaeo ‘landscapes’. In: Brugal, J-P. and Desse, J. eds. Petits animaux et sociétés humaines: 
du complément alimentaire aux ressources utilitaires, Antibes: Association pour la Promotion et la 
Diffusion des Connaissances Archéologiques (APDCA). 

Compagno, LJV. 2005. Checklist of living Chondrichthyes. In: Hamlett, W. ed. Reproductive Biology and 
Phylogeny of Chondrichthyes: Sharks, Batoids and Chimaeras. Science Publishers Inc, Enfield, New 
Hampshire, USA, pp. 503-548. 

De Carvalho, MR, Bockmann, FA, Amorim, DS, Devivo, M, De Toledo Piza, M, Menezes, NA, De Figueiredo, JL, 

4. APPENDICES



 iziko museums of cape town annual report 2004/2005 59

Castro, RMC, Gill, AC, McEachran, JD, Compagno, LJV, Schelly, RC, Britz, R, Lundberg, JG, Vari, RP and 
Nelson, G. 2005. Revisiting the Taxonomic Impediment. Science 307: 353. 

Hoving, H-JT, Roeleveld, MAC, Lipinski, MR and Melo, Y. 2004. Reproductive system of the giant squid 
Architeuthis in South African waters. Journal of Zoology, London 264: 153-169.

Jousselin, E, Van Noort, S and Greeff, J. 2004. Labile male morphology and intraspecific male polymorphism 
in the Philotrypesis fig wasps. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 33: 706-718.

Klein, RG, Avery, G, Cruz-Uribe, K, Halkett, D, Parkington, JE, Steele, T, Volman, TP and Yates, R. 2004. The 
Ysterfontein 1 Middle Stone Age site, South Africa, and early human exploitation of coastal resources. 
Proceedings of the National Academy of Science 101: 5708–5715.

Last, PR, Compagno, LJV and Nakaya, K. 2004. Rhinobatos nudidorsalis sp. nov., a new species of shovelnose 
ray (Batoidea: Rhinobatidae) from the Mascarene Ridge, central Indian Ocean. Ichthyological Research 
(Japan) 51: 153-158.

Netshilaphala, NM, Milton, SJ and Robertson, HG. 2005. Response of an ant assemblage to mining on the 
arid Namaqualand coast, South Africa. African Entomology 13: 162-167.

Parr, CL, Robertson, HG, Biggs, HC and Chown, SL. 2004. Response of African savanna ants to long-term fire 
regimes. Journal of Applied Ecology 41: 630–642.

Sidor, CA and Smith, RMH. 2004. A new galesaurid (Therapsida: cynodontia) from the Late Permian of 
South Africa. Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology 47: 535-556.

Van Noort, S and Rasplus, JY. 2005. Revision of the Papua New Guinean fig wasp genus Robertsia Boucek 
(Hymenoptera, Chalcidoidea, Pteromalidae, Sycoecinae). Zootaxa 929: 1-35.

Ward, PD, Botha, J, Buick, R, De Kock, MO, Erwin, DH, Garrison, GH, Kirschvink, JL, Smith, RMH. 2005. 
Abrupt and Gradual Extinction Among Late Permian Land Vertebrates in the Karoo Basin, South Africa. 
Science 307: 709-714.

Yano, K, Stevens, JD and Compagno, LJV. 2004.  
A review of the systematics of the sleeper shark genus Somniosus with redescriptions of Somniosus 
(Somniosus) antarcticus and S. (Rhinoscymnus) longus (Elasmobranchii; Squaliformes; Somniosidae). 
Ichthyological Research (Japan) 51(4): 360-373, figs. 1-10. Dec. 2004. 

Popular publications
Compagno, LJV. Preface. In: Campbell, T. ed. 2004, The Ocean World of Abdulmohsin Al Sheikh. Privately 

published, 12-13 of 144 pp. 

Compagno, LJV. Vorworte. In: Ritter, E. 2004. Mit Haien sprechen. Franckh-Kosmos Verlag, GmbH and Co., 
Stuttgart, pp. 5-6 of 270 pp.

Books
Compagno, LJV, Dando, M and Fowler, S. 2005. A Field Guide to the Sharks of the World. Harper-Collins, 

London. 

Compagno, LJV, Dando, M and Fowler, S. 2005. Sharks of the World (cover as Princeton Field Guide. Sharks 
of the World.). Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey. 

Technical reports
Compagno, LJV. 2004. Position paper: White shark (Carcharodon carcharias) and CITES. Presented to the 

CITES CoP13 meetings in Bangkok, Thailand under the aegis of the Shark Research Institute. Two 
versions: SRC Technical Report SRC20041008 and SRC Technical Report SRC20041012.

Social History Collections Division
Publications
Davison, P. 2005. Museums and the re-shaping of memory. In: Corsane, G. ed. Heritage, Museums and 

Galleries: an introductory reader. United Kingdom, Routledge. 

Davison, P. 2004. Traces of humanity: material imprints of the human past. In: Oliphant, A, Delius, P and 
Meltzer, L. eds. Democracy X. Marking the present; re-presenting the past. University of South Africa, 
Unisa Press, pp 3-11.

Davison, P. 2004. Things of Enchantment. In: Skotnes, P, Van Embden, G and Langermann, F. Curiosity 
CLXXV. A Paper Cabinet. Curating collections at the University of Cape Town. Cape Town, LLAREC 
Series in Visual History, pp14-15.
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Meltzer, L. 2004. A stage for history: repositioning the Castle in post-1994 South Africa. In: Oliphant, A, 
Delius, P and Meltzer, L. eds. Democracy X. Marking the present; re-presenting the past. University of 
South Africa, Unisa Press, pp 69-77.

Vollgraaff, H. 2004. Finding Marie: A search for the true Marie Koopmans-de Wet Part I. Quarterly Bulletin 
of the National Library of South Africa 58(3): 129-138. 

Vollgraaff, H. 2004. Finding Marie: A search for the true Marie Koopmans-de Wet Part II. Quarterly Bulletin 

of the National Library of South Africa 58(4): 177-184. 

Popular publications 
Abrahams-Braybrook, G. 2004. Human Wrongs to Human Rights. Brochure celebrating the heritage of 

slavery, Iziko Museums of Cape Town.

Boshoff, A. 2004. Living Antiquity. Brochure on the exhibition at the Sasol Art Museum, Stellenbosch.

 Deacon, J. 2004. /Qe. The Power of Rock Art. Brochure on the rock art exhibition at the South African 
Museum. 

Heese, S. 2004. ‘Democracy X’ Education workbook. Iziko Museums of Cape Town.

Meltzer, L. 2004. ‘Democracy X’ brochure in English, Afrikaans and isiXhosa. 

Van der Merwe, T. 2004. Groot Constantia. The Cape Odyssey 41 (8). 

‘Democracy X’ documentary video of the exhibition. Grey Matter Media.  

Zanele Muholi, Comfort

Bangwato milk pail (19th century), wood Ernest Cole, Train station scene
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4.2. Acquisitions
Art Collections Division
Work purchased from a transformation fund grant of R860 000 from the Department of Arts and 
Culture for the acquisition of specific works:
Santu Mofokeng Apostles, Motouleng Cave, Clarens, Free State (1996); Easter Sunday, Motouleng Cave, 

Clarens (1966); Easter Monday, Motouleng Cave, Clarens (1996); Shrine/Offertory, Motouleng 

Cave, Clarens, Free State (1996); Motouleng Cave, Clarens, Free State (1996); Sangoma Ritual 

Dance, Easter Weekend, Motouleng Cave, Clarens, Free State (1996); Priest, Motouleng Cave, 

Clarens, Free State (1996); Christmas Service, Maose Cave, Ficksburg, Free State (1996); Christmas 

Church Service, Maotse Cave, Ficksburg, Free State (2000); Christmas Church Service, Maotse 

Cave, Fiksburg, Free State (2000); edition of five, of which six were donated by the artist and four 

acquired at R25 000 each, from the artist.

Noria Mabasa Offering to the ancestors (2004), ceramic, R4 860, from Mukondeni.

Noria Mabasa A woman fighting a lion (circa 1985), wood, R3 747, auction from Stephan Welz and Co.

Noria Mabasa A reclining figure, wood, R7 790, on auction from Stephan Welz and Co.

Paul Tavhana Nowa ya Tsireledzo Snake as Protector (1994-2004), kiaat and shellac, R70 000, from the 

artist.

Meshak Raphalalani Family going to vote (1994), R30 000, from the artist.

Timothy Mafenuka Miracle of the Universe (1992), wood, R33 000, from the Mafenuka family through 

Mario Pissarra.

Ranjith Kally Florence Mkhize burns pass book (The defiant Mkhize and other ANC members burn their 

pass books making their stand against apartheid) (1958-1960), gelatin silver print, edition 20, 

three artist’s proofs, R4 500; Business as usual (Chief Albert Luthuli looking out of his spaza shop’s 

window in Groutville, soon after being told that he had won the Nobel Peace Prize) (1960), gelatin 

silver print, edition 20, three artist’s proofs, R5 400; Bantu Court, Zululand (1957), gelatin silver 

print, R5 400, from the Goodman Gallery.

Buyaphi Mdledle Blow (2004), Many Gazes (2004), pigment prints on cotton paper, R3 800 each, from 

the artist.

Zanele Muholi Comfort (2003); Dildo (2003), Iphondo 2 (2003), pigment prints on cotton paper, R3 000 

each, from the artist.

Works purchased from funds remaining in the 2003-2004 Department of Arts and Culture  
transformation allocation for acquisitions of previously disadvantaged artists 
Richard Shange Telephone wire head (2004), R1 847, from the African Art Centre, Durban.

Nicholas Hlobo Ingenile/Entry (2004), blanket, mixed media, R11 825, from Bell-Roberts.

Andile Dyalvane Pair of meat platters (2004), ceramic, R680, from the Potter’s Shop and Studio, Cape 

Town.

Love letter, North Nguni, South East Africa (late 19th century), glass beads, sinew, R960 from Michael 

Heuermann.

Work purchased from a grant of R1 000 000 from the National Lotteries Board for repatriation of 
African heritage objects and specific works:

Note: 50% of the grant was received during the period under review.

Repatriation

Unknown artist Bangwato milk pail (19th century) R126 500, from Michael Stevenson Contemporary.

Santu Mofokeng,  
Sangoma Ritual Dance, 
Easter Weekend,  
Motouleng Cave

Ranjith Kally, Business 
as usual
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Specific works of art

Tracey Rose T.K.O. (2000), DVD, R90 000, from the Goodman Gallery, Johannesburg.

Ernest Cole Portfolio of photographs, R288 000, from Clarke’s Bookshop, Cape Town.

G.C. Robinson A Cape Town Landscape (1898), R55 000, from Michael Stevenson Contemporary.

C. Penstone Holidays in Cape Town, R22 000, from Michael Stevenson Contemporary.

D. Santry Overmantle (c. 1904), R8 000, from Andrew Newall. 

Works purchased from the Iziko Art Collections Division budget
Artist unknown, Zulu, Masinga area (Tugela Ferry/Keets Drift), KwaZulu-Natal, south east Africa, Imbenge 

(cover for ukhamba/beer pot), circa late 20th century, glass beads, vegetable fibre core, plastic twine, 

plastic thread, R270, from Africando.

Artist unknown, photograph (silverprint) of two Zulu water policemen, circa late 19th century, R900, from 

Africando.

Artist unknown, southern Sotho neckpiece, circa late 19th century, vegetable seeds (lucky beans), glass 

seed beads, strung on sinew, R1 000 from Africando.

Thamsanqa ka Mnyele There goes a man ... sad and deep in sorrow, like the river underground (1972), 

crayon and charcoal on paper, from Warren Siebrits.

David Murathi Crocodile Fish (2003), wild olive, R5 000, from the artist.

Nelson Makhuba Marimba (23.7.83), wood, R9 469, on auction from Stephan Welz and Co.

Artist unknown, Xhosa staff, (late 19th century), wood decorated with pokerwork, R27 850, on auction 

from Stephan Welz and Co.

Penny Siopis My Lovely Day (1997), installation comprising film, cinema seats, two curtains, two wall lights, 

R79 000, from the Goodman Gallery, with support from the Friends of the Gallery.

Melanie Hillebrand Waterjar (2004), ceramic, R800, from The Cape Gallery.

Sam Nhlengethwa Near the Bus Stop (2003) 21/30 SN026, hand-printed photolithograph, R4 000, from 

João Ferreira Gallery.

Alexia Mkhize Bead collar (2004), R276; Bead collar (2004), R555; Bead collar (2004), R556.

Happiness Mngoma Beaded tie (2004), R185.

Zoyaphi Gwala Loveletter necklace (2004), R81, from the African Art Centre, Durban.

Chris Ledochowski Nelson Mandela delivers his first public speech in 27 years on the day of his release. 

City Hall, Grand Parade, Cape Town, 11.02.1990 (2004), photolithograph, edition of 150, R2 500, from 

the artist.

Editions for ArtThrob (2002-2003), portfolio of 10 prints by David Goldblatt, Robert Hodgins, William 

Kentridge, Zwelethu Mthethwa, Tracey Rose, Hentie van der Merwe, pigment prints on archival rag 

paper, R28 500, from ArtThrob.

Phillip Rikhotso Tree of figures (2002), painted wood, R8 850; Horned figure holding head (2004), painted 

wood, R5 850; Chicken man with yellow wings, painted wood, R6 600; Beast 1, wood, R5 200, from 

Julia Meintjies.

Wim Botha Lock-step (2005), charcoal on paper, R9 500, from Michael Stevenson Contemporary.

David Goldblatt In commemoration of and protest against farm murders, Rietvlei, on the N1 near 

Polokwane. 19 June 2004, archival pigment ink on cotton rag paper, edition of six, R40 000, from 

Michael Stevenson Contemporary.

Eunice Geustyn, from the series ‘Vices and Virtues’: Faith, Hope, Charity (2005), etchings, R660 each from 

the Association for Visual Arts.

Eunice Geustyn, from the series ‘Moirae’: Dawn, Meridian, Nightfall (2005), R6 075 for the set, from the 

Association for Visual Arts.

Paul Tavhana, Nowa Ya 
Tsireledzo – Snake as 
Protector

Antoinette Murdoch,  
te kort skiet
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George Hallett Dumile Feni and Louis Moholo, London (1971); Portrait of Dumile Feni in his New York 

Studio (1982); Peter Clarke, Mas Domingo, France (1979); James Matthews, Boule D’Amont, France 

(1980), silver prints, edition of 25, R6 000, from the artist.

Mandla Vanyaza Sekoto’s Mother (deconstructed) (2005), R6 000, from the Association for Visual Arts.

Thamae Setshogo Ant eaters (April 2004), oil on canvas, R12 500, from Everard Read Cape Town.

Works purchased by the Friends of the South African National Gallery
Artist unknown, south-east Africa, Ingubo (apron) (c. 1960), R2 200, from The Dorp Street Gallery,  

Stellenbosch.

Artist unknown, south-east Africa, Isicholo (headdress) (c. 1960), R595, from The Dorp Street Gallery, 
Stellenbosch.

Artist unknown, Zulu pot, (c. 2003), R1 900, from The Dorp Street Gallery, Stellenbosch.

Artist unknown, south east Africa, Waistbelt, (c. 1960), R740, from The Dorp Street Gallery, Stellenbosch.

Antoinette Murdoch Te kort skiet (2001-2003), steel, wire, tape measures, R13 000, from the artist.

Anton Kannemeyer (Joe Dog) and Conrad Botes (Konradski) LSM (Living Standard Measure) (2004), bromide 
overlay and acrylis poster paint, R10 600, from the Association for Visual Arts.

Peter Clarke Little match girl (2004), mixed media, R10 800, from Michael Stevenson Contemporary.

Works purchased from the Tosca Reynolds bequest
Helmut Starcke Clio, The Muse of History (2001), acrylic on canvas, R70 000, from the artist.

Hans Ludwig Katz Architekt/Architect (1934), pastel on cardboard, from the estate of the late Mrs Fisher, 
R10 000.

Works purchased from insurance money received for the painting by Walter Sickert stolen in 1998
Walter Sickert Dieppe, The Old Royal Hotel (c. 1910), hand photogravure etching, £1 500, from The Fine Art 

Society, London.

Walter Sickert The orchestra of the Olympia, Shoreditch (c. 1920), etching and engraving, £3 000, from The 
Fine Art Society, London.

Dumile Feni Whisper slight (1970), ink on paper, R60 000, from Art on Paper, Johannesburg.

Dumile Feni Untitled (1985), ink on paper, R45 000, from Art on Paper, Johannesburg.

Simon Lekgetho Portrait of a Young Boy (1958), oil on board, R23 400, from Michael Stevenson 
Contemporary.

Kathryn Smith Ennui 1:2 (after Sickert) (2004), pigment print on cotton paper, editioned, photographed by 
Daron Chatz, R10 000, from the artist.

Presentations
Ruth Prowse Johanna (30 May 1948), oil on linoleum. From the estate of the late Johan van Rooyen.

German Mahlase, hand-
built stoneware vessel 

Xibelani /Tsonga married  
woman’s dancing skirt
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Artist unknown, south-east Africa, Nguni figurative stick (circa early 20th century), variegated wood with 
patina. From Michael Stevenson.

Leonard Matsoso Untitled, oil on board. From Marita Swanepoel.

Inyoka (snake) (2002), oil on canvas. From Louis Maqhubela, through Art First Contemporary Art, London.

Donation
A donation of R102,945 was received from the Museum of Contemporary Art, Los Angeles, comprising 50% 

of the proceeds from the sale of a work donated by William Kentridge; these funds were added to the 
Iziko Art Collections Division acquisitions budget.

Natural History Collections Division
Marine Biology
213 marine vertebrates and 198 marine invertebrates were accessioned. A new Giant Squid specimen was 
received from Irvin & Johnson.

Terrestrial vertebrates
200 terrestrial vertebrates were accessioned. Specimens were donated by Cape Nature Conservation, 
Tygerberg Zoo, World of Birds, the public and local veterinary practices. The largest donor was Cape Nature 
Conservation, which contributes an estimated 250 – 300 specimens annually.

Terrestrial invertebrates
Approximately 15 000 insect specimens, yet to be processed, were collected in Malaise traps at Iziko West 
Coast Fossil Park. 34 607 new records were added to the specimen databases.

Karoo palaeontology
159 specimens were added to the collection, including mammal-like reptiles collected by R. Smith and his 
team, and 99 previously un-accessioned frog fossils collected by Drs Reuning and Boonstra in 1931.

Invertebrate palaeontology
Beautifully preserved 400-million-year-old echinoderm fossils, including starfish, brittlefish and carpoids, 
from a bedding plain of Bokkeveld rock (see photograph on front cover).

Social History Collections Division

Purchases
A collection of fifteen carved wooden kgoro poles from GaModjadji, Limpopo, R150 000 (DAC 

Transformation funding).

Three bead and wire Nguni cattle for the Indigenous Knowledge Project, R6 250, from Streetwires.

Linn Ware vase, Olifantsfontein, first half 20th century, R325; two Kalahari Studio ashtrays, Cape Town, 

1950s, R1 200; Rorke’s Drift vessel, KwaZulu-Natal, 1972, R3 200; and a carved wooden angel by 

Sibusiso Maphumulo, KwaZulu-Natal, 2002, R1 250. Purchased from Peter Visser Antiques.

Three vessels by Kgwarane German Mahlase, Cape Town, 2004, R5 140, from Dale Curteis.

Two vessels (R1 160) and an oval platter (R1 450) by Majolandile Dyalvane, from the Potter’s Shop and 

Studio.

Bowl by Hylton Nel, 2002, R1 000, from Leonard Shapiro.

Rorke’s Drift vase by L. Mabaso, KwaZulu-Natal, 1989, R1 000, from Brian Morse.

A small ceramic figure of a Boy Scout, South African Boy Scouts Jamboree, East London, 1936, Sunset 

ware, England, R350, from Select Books.

Presentation
From the Rowland and Leta Hill Trust: a rare miniature oil portrait of the Xhosa chief, Kama, painted by 

Frederick Timpson I’Ons in 1853-1854. R41 800, from Michael Stevenson Contemporary. 

Donations
Watercolour painting showing Table Bay with Dutch, French and American ships in the bay and the town, 

dating from the late VOC period, c. 1780s – 1790s, presented by Admiral Steve Ritchie, England.
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Nguni cattle

Matjieshuis from Ratelgat

Iziko Mobile Museum

Three British coloured engravings of Sarah Bartmann, and a pot from the Later Stone Age, SW Cape, 

presented by Dr Sue Robinson.

Replica Egyptian figurines of Thoth and Imhotep, presented by Prof Peter Bernard Hesseling.

Booklet containing a programme for a pageant celebrating the abolition of slavery (1834-1934), presented 

by Mr Peter Voges.

Electoral ballot box with contents relating to South African national (1999) and provincial elections (1994), 

presented by Prof H.C. Bredekamp, CEO, Iziko Museums of Cape Town.

Bag to hold ballot papers, South African 1994 elections on St Helier, Jersey, presented by Mr Mervyn E. 

Brennan.

T-shirts : Democracy X exhibition T-shirts, 2004, Iziko Museums of Cape Town; five Liberation and Anti-

Apartheid theme T-shirts, presented by Kathleen Sheldon, USA; two Laugh it Off T-shirts by Justin 

Nurse and Chris Verridjt; and one T-shirt presented anonymously by a soldier, 10th SACP Congress.

Two copper lerali rods from Phalaborwa, Limpopo, presented by Mr Wolfgang Roegner.

A small collection of beadwork, presented by Mrs A. Green.

Matjieshut (mat house) from Ratelgat, presented by the National Museum of Australia.

A small collection of modern embroidered and woven textiles, mostly from Gautemala, but  also a 

Hungarian marriage headdress, a Japanese obi, and a beaded Ndebele apron, presented by Mr Sherwin 

Mark.

Bequests
From the estate of Margaret Noel Roddy: 

A framed print of a watercolour by H.C. de Meillon depicting a view of Cape Town from the Kloof, dated 

1895; framed miniature paintings of Robert and Elvira Waterhouse; a framed lithograph of Godard 

van Reede, Graaf van Athlone; a framed coat of arms of Richard Southcote Mansergh of Tipperary; a 

green jasper Wedgwood vase and tazza; and a silver-plated Art Nouveau style commemorative ashtray.

Subscriptions
RSA commemorative envelopes, control blocks and single stamps from Philatelic Services.

RSA new coin series from the SA Mint.
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4.3.  Projects (including funding information)
Art Collections Division
Major Projects
Public Art Commission: two of the four commissions have been completed; completion of project in 

2005. Funded by the National Lotteries Board, R370 000.

Acquisitions: for specific works. Balance to be spent in 2005. Transformation grant from the Department 

of Arts and Culture, R860 000.

Acquisitions: repatriation of African heritage objects and specific works of art. 50% of grant received 

and spent. Grant from the National Lotteries Board, R1 000 000.

Other Sponsorship and funding
The Sir Abe Bailey Trust continues to fund the conservation and other costs of the Sir Abe Bailey 

bequest.

Natural History Collections Division
Major Projects
West Coast Fossil Park. Ongoing. Funded by BHP Billiton, R412 243.

Fossil Stories exhibition. To be launched in 2005. Employment of fossil preparators (R124 000). Contracts 

completed. Transformation grant from the Department of Arts and Culture, R360 000.

African Dinosaurs exhibition. Due for completion end of 2006. Grant from the National Lotteries Board, 

R2.8 million, R934 000 received.

Sharkworld Exhibition, launched in October, funded by the Save Our Seas Foundation, R479 430.

National Research Foundation
Franco – RSA Agreement: “Biology and Palaeontology: observing modern hyaenids and their bone 

assemblages, implications for the interpretation of European prehistoric sites.” Ongoing. (R161 000 
to G. Avery). 

Focus Area Programmes: Conservation and Management of Ecosystems and Biodiversity: 

“Biology of the class Chondrichthyes” (R58 669 to L. Compagno). Completed.

“Environmental assessment using ants” (R90 540 to H. Robertson). Ongoing.

Focus Area Programmes: Distinct SA Research Opportunities: 

“Mid-Pleistocene human biogeography” (R49 323 to D.M. Avery). Completed. 

“Cretaceous faunas of KwaZulu-Natal” (R29 967 to H. Klinger). Ongoing.

“Palaeoecology of Gondwana” (R70 715 to R. Smith). Ongoing.

Palaeontological Scientific Trust (PAST) 
Micromammal sorting (R48 000 to D.M. Avery). Project completed.

Organization of INQUA workshop ‘Towards understanding human biogeography in Pleistocene Africa’, 
held at the Transvaal Museum in December 2004 (R45 000 to D.M. Avery).

Save Our Seas Foundation (SOS)
“White Shark behavioural ecology in False Bay” (R694 061 to Ph.D. student A. Kock, supervisor L. 

Compagno).

Social History Collections Division
Major Projects
‘Democracy X marking the present; re-presenting the past’ exhibition. At the Castle of Good Hope, 

21 April 2004 – March 2005. Funded by the Department of Arts and Culture, R2 500 000 (the 
Netherlands government also provided R250 000 in sponsorship for the exhibition catalogue).
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Curatorship of the Human Remains project at Iziko SA Museum, funded by the Department of Arts and 
Culture Transformation fund, R340 000. 

Slave Lodge Auditorium, funded by the Department of Arts and Culture Transformation fund, R596 000.

Groot Constantia Orientation Centre, funded by the Department of Arts and Culture Transformation 
fund, R399 000.

Audio-guides project: the project was based on the Slave Lodge site’s history; completion by July 2005, 
funded by the Department of Arts and Culture Transformation fund, R 469 460.

Iziko Mobile Museum: Tracking Tradition, funded by the National Lotteries Board, R1 000 000.

Memory Centre at the Slave Lodge Museum, funded by the National Lotteries Board, R927 100.

Archaeology of the Meermin slave ship, funded by the National Lotteries Board, R1 600 000.

Other Sponsorship and funding
Sappi carried the costs of the removal and transport of Iziko’s Printing Collection to its new location at 
the Sappi head office.

Nedcor funded a business plan for the Slave Lodge, R43 000.

Education and Public Programmes Division
Major Projects
African Roots Festival – Celebrating Heritage: a performing arts and heritage partnership project with 

Artscape’s Education and Audience Development Division. The first year has been completed; 
completion of the project at the end of 2007. Funding by the National Lotteries Board for three 
years amounting to R250 000, R183 000 and R242 000 respectively.

 Heritage Learning Support Programme: Funded for first year only; completion of project by March 
2006. Funded by the National Lotteries Board, R271 000. 

Indigenous Knowledge Systems (IKS) Labels: a project focused on African Cosmology; completion by 
March 2006. Funded by DAC Transformation Fund, R277 000.

Other Sponsorship
Access Programme: Free bus transport provided to schools from disadvantaged communities, supported 

by a subsidy of R45 000 from the Golden Arrow Foundation. The Golden Arrow Foundation has 
provided this subsidy since the inception of Iziko Museums.

‘Lowering the gaze’, represen-
tations of Muslim women
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4.4 Loans
Art Collections Division
National – long-term loans
Anglo American Farms, Vergelegen, Somerset West, 58 works.

Tuynhuys, Cape Town, nine works.

Constitutional Court, Johannesburg, six works.

High Court, Cape Town, eleven works.

Cape Town International Convention Centre, thirteen works.

Office of the CEO, Iziko Museums, ten works.

Artscape Theatre, one work.

National – temporary loans
Albany History Museum, Rhodes University, Grahamstown, two works by Dorothy Kay for the exhibition 

‘Through the looking glass’ (travelling).

City of Tshwane and University of Stellenbosch, three works for the Norman Catherine Retrospective 
(travelling).

University of Stellenbosch, two works for the Herman von Nazareth exhibition and one work by Louis 
Jansen van Vuuren.

National Library of South Africa, Cape Town, one work by Marjorie Wallace.

St Georges Cathedral, Cape Town, one work by Ronald Harrison.

Parliament of South Africa, seven works.

Johannesburg Art Gallery, six works for Dumile Feni Retrospective (travelling).

Sanlam Art Collection, Bellville, two works for the Maggie Laubser exhibition (travelling).

Vergelegen, Somerset West, sixteen works for the Sir Elton John Foundation fundraising concert.

International
University of Michigan, one work for the exhibition ‘HIV/Aids in South Africa’.

Christies, London, one work for the exhibition ‘Daughters of Delight’.

University of Zurich, 29 works for the exhibition ‘Iintsimbi – Perlenarbeiten aus Südafrika’.

National Gallery of Namibia, thirteen works for the exhibition ‘Decade of Democracy’.

Natural History Collections Division
Marine invertebrates
A total of twelve loans were sent: one within South Africa, two to Australia, one to Austria, four to 

Germany, one to Japan, one to Norway, one to the UK and one to the USA.

Marine vertebrates
A total of three loans were sent: one within South Africa, one to Australia and one to the USA.

Terrestrial vertebrates
A total of 23 loans were sent, all within South Africa.

Terrestrial invertebrates
A total of 26 loans were sent: seven within South Africa, two to Belgium, one to Canada, one to the 

Czech Republic, three to Germany, one to Israel, one to Italy, one to New Zealand, one to Poland, 
one to Russia, one to the UK, one to Ukraine, and five to the USA. 

Invertebrate palaeontology
One loan dispatched (South Africa). 
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Karoo palaeontology
A total of thirteen loans were sent: eight within South Africa, two to Canada, one to Germany, one to 

Japan and one to the UK. 

Cenozoic palaeontology
A total of five loans were sent: three within South Africa, one to Germany and one to the USA.

Social History Collections Division
A total of 457 loans from the Social History Collections were made during this year: 

Blombos engraved ochre, bone and stone tools, Global Pavilion, Expo 2005, Japan. Cultural, 
archaeological and natural history items, South African Pavilion, Expo 2005, Japan.

Twenty Khoisan artefacts, and one rock engraving, National Museum of Australia.

Archaeological artifacts and 111 items from the ethnographic collections, 175th anniversary  
exhibition, UCT.

208 pieces from the antiquities collections, University of Stellenbosch. 

Twelve ethnographic and archaeological artifacts, Karoo National Parks. 

A wooden beam and smoking pipe associated with Slagter’s Nek incident, Somerset East Museum. 

Over 60 archaeological and historical artefacts, MTN ScienCentre.

Five pieces of Cape silver and one sword, Castle Military Museum. 

Seven ceramic shards for analysis, University of Pretoria. 

Printing equipment and related material (about 30 items), Sappi Head Office. 

Beautifully preserved 400 million-year-old fossil starfish, recently 
discovered in the Bokkeveld shales near Prince Albert.
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4.5. Exhibitions
Art Collections Division
Presented at Iziko South African National Gallery 
‘A Decade of Democracy: South African Art 1994-2004 from the Permanent Collection of Iziko South African 

National Gallery’ presented a visual record of the hopes and aspirations, the fears and concerns of South 
Africa during this time – through the eye of contemporary artists, 3 April – 29 August 2004.

‘Ilifa Labantu Heritage of the People’, featured a selection of African art acquired during the first decade of 
democracy, 24 September 2004- 27 March 2005.

‘Subject to Change’, explored the complex subjectivities of South Africans and the need for change on many 
levels of our lives, 19 March-28 August 2005. 

‘A Place called Home’, contemporary artists from the South Asian Diaspora, 22 September – 7 November 2004.

‘Voice-overs: Wits writings exploring African artworks’, 20 November 2004-5 February 2005.

‘Guy Tillim – DaimlerChrysler Award for Photography’, 27 February -21 March 2005.

‘The DaimlerChrysler Art Collection in South Africa 2004’, 3 October -7 November 2004.

‘Old Masters: New Perceptions’.

‘New Light on Old Masters: Conserving a Gift to the Nation’.

‘South African Landscape Paintings 1960-1990’ 10 March-17 April 2005.

‘My Lovely Day’, a video installation by by Penny Siopis, 21 December 2004 - 28 February 2005.

‘Video works’, work by Moshekwa Langa, Robin Rhode, Usha Seejarim, Lynn Lomofsky and Thando Mama,  
16 December 2004 - 28 February 2005.

Presented at Iziko Michaelis Collection
‘Kunst uit de Kaap: Hollandse en Vlaamse meesterwerken uit de Michaelis Collectie te Kaapstad’ (after an 

exhibition at the Bonnefanten Museum in Maastricht, The Netherlands).

‘Flip’ (backs of paintings) attracted a new, young audience.

‘The Muse of History: Paintings by Helmut Starcke’.

Presented at the Castle of Good Hope
‘Messages from the Moat’ by Sue Williamson.

Social History Collections Division
Presented by Iziko at the Castle of Good Hope
‘Democracy X marking the present; re-presenting the past’, 21 April 2004 - 31 March 2005.

Presented at Iziko South African Museum
‘Codex Witsenii – Artifacts, natural history from Namaqualand’, from 29 October 2004. 

Presented at Iziko Slave Lodge
‘Lest we forget’, a Unesco travelling exhibition on the significance of the Atlantic Slave Trade,  

9 December 2004 - 8 March 2005.

‘Visions and Voices: Children’s Rights and realities in South Africa’, 17 March 2005 - end June 2005.

‘Hands That Shape Humanity’, Desmond Tutu Peace Foundation, from 25 November 2004. 

Presented at Iziko Bo-Kaap Museum
‘Tatumkhulu Afrika’, exhibition on poet and activist (1920-2002), from 7 December 2004. 

‘Lowering the gaze’, representations of Muslim women, 1 September 2004-15 July 2005.

Other exhibitions
‘Living Antiquities’ – exhibition of Iziko artifacts from ancient Greece, Rome and Near East, at the Sasol Art 

Museum, Stellenbosch University, from 2 March 2005.

‘Month of Photography’ - an exhibition of largely South African contemporary photographers, SA Centre of 
Photography UCT, at the Castle of Good Hope, 17 February - 11 March 2005.

Education and Public Programmes Division
Annual Western Cape Education Department Matric Art exhibition, at Iziko South African Museum. 
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4.6.  Materiality and Significance Framework for the 2004/2005 
Financial Year

1. Definitions and standards
  Audited financial statements: 2003/2004 (AFS)

  Approved annual budget: 2004/2005 (AAB)

  Approved strategic plan: 2004/2005 to 2006/2007(ASP)

  Event: An activity that has the elements of income and expenditure

  Trading venture: An activity that has the elements of buying and selling of products and/or services

  Total income: Total income excluding the income from events and trading ventures

  Total expenditure: Total expenditure excluding event and trading venture expenditure

2.  Applicable sections of the PFMA
  Section 50(1)

  Section 55(2)

  Section 54(2)

  Section 66(1)

3. Treasury regulation 
  28.1.5

4. Framework       

4.1 Section 50: Fiduciary duties of Ac-
counting Authority

Value (Quantitative) Nature of event (Qualitative)

(1) Accounting authority must:

c) on request, disclose to the Executive Au-
thority responsible, all material facts which 
in any way may influence the decisions or 
actions of the Executive Authority

(a)  Any unbudgeted transaction of 
which the amount exceeds 0.50% of 
the total value of assets per AFS

(b)  Any budgeted event where income 
is a legitimate expectation where the 
actual income is less than 0 .33% of 
the total expenditure

(c)  Any trading venture where income 
is exceeded by expenditure by more 
than 0.33% of income

(d)  Total actual income is less than 
budgeted income by more than 0.33% 
of budgeted income

(e)   Total actual expenditure is more 
than budgeted income by more than 
0.33% of budgeted expenditure

(a)  Any unplanned event that affects 
the core purpose or mandate of entity 
per the ASP

(b)  Any activity that is outside the 
parameters of each public entity’s 
enabling legislation



 72 APPENDICES

4.2 Section 54: Information to be sub-
mitted by the Accounting Authority

Value (Quantitative) Nature of event 
(Qualitative)

(2)   Before a public entity concludes any of 
the following transactions, the Accounting 
Authority for the entity must promptly and 
in writing inform the relevant treasury of 
the transaction and submit relevant par-
ticulars of the transaction to its Executive 
Authority for approval of the transaction:

(b) participation in a significant partner-
ship, trust, unincorporated joint venture or 
similar arrangement

(c) acquisition of disposal of a significant 
shareholding in a company

(d) acquisition or disposal of a significant 
asset

(e) commencement or cessation of a  
significant business activity

N/a

N/a

Any transaction of which the amount 
exceeds  0.50% of the total value of 
assets per AFS

Any transaction of which the amount 
exceeds 0.50% of the total value of 
assets per AFS

Any unplanned event per the ASP  
that may affect the core purpose or 
mandate of the entity

Any unplanned event per the ASP that 
may affect the core purpose or  
mandate of the entity

Any unplanned event per the ASP  
that may affect the core purpose or  
mandate of the entity

Any unplanned event per the ASP that 
may affect the core purpose or  
mandate of the entity

4.3 Section 55: Annual Report and  
Annual Financial Statements

Value (Quantitative) Nature of event (Qualitative) 

(2)  The annual report and financial state-
ments must:

(b) include particulars of:

(i) any material losses through  
criminal conduct and, 

any irregular expenditure and fruitless and 
wasteful expenditure that occurred during 
the year

(iii) any losses recovered or written off

(a) Any loss of which the amount 
exceeds 0.50% of the total value of 
assets per AFS
(b) Any loss of a National Estate as 
defined in section 3 of the National 
Heritage Resources Act, 1999 (Act no 
25 of 1999)

All

All

Any unplanned  loss per the ASP that 
may affect the core purpose or man-
date of the entity

All

All

4.4 Section 66: Restrictions on  
borrowing, guarantees and other  
commitments
Iziko Museums may not enter into any 
financial commitment beyond its approved 
budgets and its accumulated reserves

N/a N/a




